review



Liz Slater

Building high-performing and improving education systems

Curriculum and assessment



Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to:

- The Education Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China, for permission to include extracts from *Learning to learn – the way forward in curriculum*, published by the Curriculum Development Council, 2001; and from *English language education key learning* area curriculum guide (Primary 1 – Secondary 3), published by the Curriculum Development Council and the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority, 2007.
- The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), for permission to include an extract from: OECD (2010) PISA 2009 Results: what makes a school successful? Resources, policies and practices (Volume IV), OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264091559-en
- The New Zealand Ministry of Education, for permission to include extracts from *The New Zealand curriculum*, available online at http://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/Curriculum-documents/The-New-Zealand-Curriculum, Crown copyright, 2007.

The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of CfBT Education Trust. © Copyright CfBT Education Trust 2013

Contents

1	Introduction	2	
2	Why are governments interested in the curriculum and assessment? What are the drivers for change?	2	
3	If 'all [are] to succeed', what issues must be addressed?	3	
4	Handling changes to the curriculum and assessment: what works?	7	
5	Why and how have successful and improving education systems changed the duration and structure of schooling alongside curriculum reform?	10	
6	How are strategic aims translated into curriculum structures?	14	
7	Assessment	22	
8	Pedagogy: What part do teachers' capabilities play in the design and implementation of changes to the curriculum and assessment?	29	
9	How much autonomy do schools and teachers have in designing their curricula?	35	
10	What are the expectations of headteachers, parents and students?	36	
11	Conclusions	37	
Anı	Annex A (Chile)		
Annex B (Hong Kong)			
Anı	Annex C (Ghana)		
Annex D (New Zealand)			
Annex E (Hong Kong)			
References			

1 Introduction

This Review deals with the structure and contents of the curriculum, together with curriculum delivery, including time spent on teaching and learning, the relationship between school structures (i.e. study pathways) and the curriculum on offer as well as teaching (pedagogy). It also deals with assessment. The section on assessment discusses the purposes of assessment (whether formative and/or summative), its timing and methods, as well as the roles and responsibilities of those involved. Decisions about approaches to the curriculum and assessment are closely linked to how many teachers there are, their knowledge and skills, the resources available and quality assurance.

2 Why are governments interested in the curriculum and assessment? What are the drivers for change?

High-performing systems have taken similar approaches to the curriculum and assessment during the latter decades of the 20th century and start of the 21st century.¹ High-performing systems have revised curricula to ensure that young people leaving school have:

- a. the skills to enter employment or tertiary education (addressing any skill shortages)
- **b.** a sense of social and environmental responsibility, including the commitment to playing a part in civil and political society
- c. the ability to assess their strengths and weaknesses
- d. study skills
- e. the motivation to undertake lifelong learning.

These attributes are generally expressed as a statement of aims and values for education at the start of curriculum documents.

In many jurisdictions, including Australia, England, Ireland, Italy, South Korea, Singapore and the US, governments have set targets for participation and attainment.² In order to raise participation and attainment, the years of compulsory schooling for all students have been increased in the secondary phase. In general, the greater diversity of the pupils remaining in education has led to the development of a larger range of courses and qualifications. The age at which students either choose or are selected for a particular study path has also been postponed.^a

In Hong Kong and Shanghai, for instance,³ there has been considerable reassessment of the purposes of education – particularly secondary education – because lower-skilled jobs

^a This is not always the case. In the Netherlands, the non-university (HAVO) and university (VWO) tracks start at 12 years of age (J. Le Métais, 2003).

are disappearing and the pattern of work for all is likely to change markedly in the future. Consequently, curricula have been re-designed to ensure that all students have a broader knowledge base and can participate in lifelong learning. This gives them a starting point from which to learn job-specific skills as required.⁴ Similarly, New Zealand's curriculum changes were designed to 'meet the needs of students and the economy' so that school-leavers possess the foundations for future learning (i.e. literacy and numeracy, confidence, motivation, health, a strong sense of cultural identity and a commitment to lifelong learning).⁵

Jurisdictions on an improvement trajectory, such as Poland,⁶ Chile⁷ and Ghana⁸ have similar objectives for their curricula. Both Poland and Chile have reviewed vocational training, reducing the number of specialisms so that the training relates to a more broadly-based job-related skill-set, allowing for the need to respond to economic changes. Ghana, in its *Report on the development of education in Ghana*⁹ saw curriculum reform as a mechanism for emphasising active learning, developing competencies and skills, promoting the development of minimum standards of learning and connections between phases of education, strengthening literacy and numeracy, and supporting a shift in emphasis towards scientific, technical and vocational skills and links to the world of work.

3 If 'all [are] to succeed'¹⁰ what issues must be addressed?

Access

A fundamental issue is ensuring access for all to basic education. Mastery of literacy and numeracy is crucial if students are going to succeed at school and beyond.¹¹ This can require moving resources away from secondary and pre-academic tertiary education to widen access to pre-school and primary education.¹² A more diverse student body will need a different curriculum to match students' different, but developing, abilities and rates of progress. It will also require teachers with a wider range of teaching skills. The World Bank reported¹³ that Ghana had improved both the quality and quantity of schooling, increasing literacy rates and school attendance^b by moving resources away from secondary and tertiary education into primary education. However, attainment still lags behind by international standards¹⁴ and only 10% of students reach Ghana's mastery levels in mathematics and 5% in English.¹⁵

Socio-economic differences

While gender differences have reduced in sub-Saharan Africa, disadvantage is still linked to low socio-economic status and living in rural areas. Consequently, inability to attend school can be the result of something as basic as physical distance from a school.¹⁶

This does not have to be the case. The report on the most recent PISA benchmarking exercise¹⁷ identified a very limited (6%) correlation between GDP per capita and the performance of students. Two countries of similar prosperity can produce very different

^b In 1987 nearly two-thirds of primary school leavers were unable to read. At the time of the report, fewer than one in twenty are illiterate.

results, even when spending per student, relative poverty or share of students with an immigrant background is substituted for GDP. In some systems, what OECD calls the 'slope of social gradient' (i.e. size of the performance gap linked to differences in socioeconomic status) is shallow, so targeting students from disadvantaged backgrounds would not, in itself address the issue. Canada, Shanghai, Korea, Finland and Hong Kong have 'gentle' slopes and achieve high levels of performance. On the other hand, in some countries such as New Zealand, Poland, Australia and Chile, socio-economic differences appear to have an impact on particular groups of students and these countries are targeting resources to address this.

- a. Despite its long-running programme of educational reform, Chile identified¹⁸ that students in poor schools^c scored far below average in reading, writing and maths. Research by the Ministry of Education located schools in similar circumstances whose students were performing well and identified a series of practical measures to ensure strong teaching support for each subject (See Annex A).
- b. Despite New Zealand's success in international benchmarking tests, Maori and Pasifika students have lower attainment than their Pakeha and Asian peers.¹⁹ The New Zealand government recognises this and has taken steps to deal with it.
- **c.** In planning post-communist reforms in Poland there was concern about the gaps in outcomes between students of different social backgrounds as well as between students from rural and urban areas.²⁰ Poland's changes to the curriculum, assessment and school structures (e.g. delaying selection of students into academic or vocational streams) were designed to improve equity among schools. In the most recent PISA exercise, the proportion of students performing below Level 2 decreased.

[°] i.e. poor in socio-economic terms.



Figure 1. Differential impact of social background on student achievement:^{21 d}

^d The blue bar shows reading proficiency in 15-year-olds. The orange bar shows the slope of the socio-economic gradient, i.e. the average gap in performance between students of different socio-economic backgrounds. Generally the systems with higher-performing students show less steep socio-economic gradients, suggesting that socio-economic status has less impact on students' ability to achieve.

Learning to learn

While they might call the task by different names, high-performing and improving systems give attention to ensuring students are taught explicitly how to learn. In high-performing education systems, students are able to work out what they need to know and how to obtain that knowledge. They have been taught effective ways of learning (setting goals, selecting learning strategies, evaluating their understanding and making good any weaknesses). A recent Sutton Trust report which evaluated the impact of funds designed to overcome disadvantage found that strategies designed to enable pupils to learn how to 'plan, monitor and evaluate their own learning' were among the most cost-effective in terms of impact.²²

Knowing how to learn is closely linked to literacy.^e These students not only enjoy reading a wide range of materials (and in a range of media), but also are able to summarise material, picking out the most important points, looking for more information if they need to improve their understanding and being able to drawing out the meanings of texts. The report noted that where countries have raised students' abilities to find, interpret and think about information in different types of texts, they have raised performance: Chile reduced the proportion of students operating below Level 2^f from nearly half in 2000 to below one third in 2009. Korea has raised its performance in reading further by doubling the percentage of students reaching Level 5 or higher since 2000. Similarly, students need to be able to work successfully in mathematics (numeracy) and science.

Gender

There are two issues associated with gender:

- a. Differences in access to education; countries aiming to improve attainment have paid attention to giving girls and boys equal access to education. This is evident in countries in sub-Saharan Africa, such as Ghana.²³
- b. Gaps in performance in core subjects. OECD²⁴ reported that in reading, girls continue to outperform boys in all participating countries, whereas boys outperform girls in mathematics. The performance difference in science is less marked.

Taking account of teacher quality

Expansion of access can lead to a shortage of qualified teachers (as well as physical resources).²⁵ Improving the quality of teachers is a relatively long-term task. In the interim, careful control of teaching and learning is needed to make up for the low skill levels of teachers. Textbooks are particularly valuable in these circumstances since they can ensure the curriculum is taught accurately at a reasonable cost.²⁶

PISA defines 'literacy' as students' capacity to apply knowledge and skills in key subject areas and to ability to analyse, reason and communicate effectively as they pose, interpret and solve problems in a variety of situations.
 ¹ Level 2 is considered the baseline for participating effectively/productively in life where the levels rise from 1 to 5.

4 Handling changes to the curriculum and assessment: what works?

Matching demands to capacity

Implementation of curriculum and assessment change works best when the amount of variation allowed takes account of the levels of expertise at national, regional, institutional and community levels. (At the same time, systems can take steps to build expertise.) McKinsey & Company's report²⁷ differentiates between, on the one hand, those systems which are high-performing and where guidelines on teaching and learning are broad because the educators are highly skilled and, on the other, systems aiming to move from 'poor' to 'fair', where educators are less skilled and, therefore, need detailed guidelines about how they can teach with very limited scope for variation.

In New Zealand, progressive delegation of responsibilities has reflected increasing capability at institutional level. Whereas the Ministry of Education has responsibility for policy, with others such as the New Zealand Qualifications Authority responsible for the National Qualifications Framework,²⁸ individual school Boards of Trustees are required (through the principal and staff) to develop and implement the curriculum for students in Years 1–13. Their plans must comply with the curriculum framework document, but they can select achievement objectives to match the learning needs of their students.

Pilot projects relating to the introduction of new monitoring and assessment arrangements in Poland not only exposed staff to new ways of working, but identified areas where they needed to develop further. These included the administration, supervision, marking and standardising of tests among both teachers and administrative staff.²⁹

Ghana faced difficulties in implementing its curriculum reforms, because of a marked gap between the content of the new curriculum (with its greater demands on teachers) and the actual capacity of the teachers.³⁰ The study carried out for the Ghana Education Service Curriculum and Research Division to plan for implementation of the Basic Education Comprehensive Assessment System found that the majority of teachers completed only 60% of the English and mathematics syllabi.³¹ The critical foundations for successful curriculum delivery - availability of good instructional materials, including textbooks, pedagogical practices and efficient use of teaching time, as well as teachers who were well prepared to teach the curriculum - were lacking. Pragmatically, the report recommended that in the shorter term, tests should focus only on the core material the study had shown was taught. In order to lay the foundations for better curriculum delivery in the longer term, the study recommended setting and monitoring 'opportunity to learn' standards⁹ and ensuring they were disseminated to teachers. It also advised MOESS on issues about class size, use of instructional time, INSET and the need for increased professional development for teachers, as well as the purchase of textbooks to match the revised syllabi for mathematics and English.

^a Including measures such as instructional time, teaching/learning materials, facilities, teacher capability, curriculum content, coverage and standards.

Implementation: lead time, presentation and planning

Changes fail when politicians confuse the announcement of policy with its implementation, believing it is sufficient simply to order change. Changes to curriculum and assessment do need political will to see them through. However, they also require an understanding of history³² and context,³³ as well as recognition of the complexity of the exercise and the range of stakeholders and interlocking systems. Drivers of successful curriculum change present a compelling case for that change. They also explain the benefits of building on good practice, are clear about responsibilities and provide practical help. Taking account of these factors means that objectives and implementation timescales are realistic. It enables stakeholders, particularly teachers, to have a sense of continuity. Involving stakeholders helps achieve the right split of responsibilities as well as drawing on expertise and practical knowledge.

Some systems have consciously set out to take account of all these issues; others have been driven to do so when stakeholders have rebelled or curriculum changes have faltered.

In launching its report on proposed curriculum and assessment reforms, the Chairman of the Hong Kong Curriculum Development Council (CDC)³⁴ explicitly reminded readers of the system's experience in dealing with change and referred to research evidence. However, the message was mostly meant to be reassuring, talking about the system's strengths and other contextual factors:

'local situations and existing strengths, our experiences gained in the implementation of curriculum development, and the findings of research studies as well as international theories on curriculum development. We have also taken into consideration the actual conditions of schools in general, the students' needs and the potential difficulties that teachers may encounter in carrying out school-based curriculum development.'

Hong Kong's stakeholders were reassured that change would take place at a measured pace, phased over three extended cycles^h to allow time for the growth of experience and capacity. The development strategies (see Annex B) were mapped out so that respective roles were clear. The report explicitly dealt with concerns raised during consultation, acknowledging the complexity of the exercise (*'The Curriculum Development Council takes the view that there is no fast track to curriculum development... quality matters more than quantity.'*) Above all, there was recognition of teachers' anxiety, an emphasis on building on good practice and tangible measures to support development and implementation which allowed each school to start from where it was.

New Zealand took a broadly similar approach. In introducing the new curriculum,³⁵ Karen Sewell, Secretary for Education explained the curriculum had been revised to respond to social change, to take account of more sophisticated technologies and developments in the job market. She related it back to the previous curriculum of 1992 and reminded

^h Short-term from 2001/02 to 2005/06; medium-term from 2006/07 to 2010/2011 and beyond 2011.

readers of the extensive development work,ⁱ which had already built capacity and engagement. In the same way as with the Hong Kong curriculum, the New Zealand curriculum was presented as a framework to be adapted by schools in the light of their own circumstances. This meant that teachers had the professional freedom to interpret it and plan school-based teaching to meet the needs of their students.

In both Chile³⁶ and Poland,³⁷ moves towards curriculum change were rejected initially because they came from discredited regimes. In Chile, the outgoing military government ordered change. However, when the new government tried to implement it, it met opposition from stakeholders. Recognising the political sensitivity, it spent five years preparing the ground for new proposals. In both countries, steps were taken to build consensus and expertise. In Poland, this included drawing on extensive OECD reports and putting proposals for change first to a small group of educationalists (including the rectors of HE establishments, regional and local bodies) followed by more extensive consultations with local government, the churches, professional and public bodies and other stakeholders.

In the case of Chile,³⁸ the Government was able to carry through education changes, including to the curriculum, over a period of more than a decade when there was broad political consensus about the overall strategy. It was able to draw on and modify the longestablished (from the 1980s) evaluations of mathematics and language attainment, use international benchmarking to design and monitor implementation and lay the groundwork for curriculum change through the MECE programme of investment in innovation and pedagogy.

The long implementation period in Chile allowed for evaluation, modification, piloting and scaling up. Monitoring of the coverage of the new curriculum revealed increases between the first and second year of implementation as teachers became more familiar with the subject matter. Aside from a radically new structure, teachers were also challenged by the extended content which out-ran their own knowledge. However, monitoring meant there was time to identify topics where training was needed, rather than having to reduce curriculum content. In reviewing progress from 1990 to 2005, there had been increases in access and retention.¹ In Chile³⁹ development of the revised secondary curriculum took almost two years. As a result, the curriculum document became more precise in form, better known and accepted by a wider range of stakeholders. While it was possibly less innovative than originally intended, 'this was compensated by increased feasibility'.

In the Netherlands, the Government funds the National Institute for Curriculum Guidance to give independent professional advice and support for curriculum development and implementation.⁴⁰ Teachers, as end-users, are heavily involved, participating in the 'field advisory groups'^k which issue recommendations about curriculum development.

¹ Drop-out rates declined from 12% in 1996 to 7% in 2001; higher education enrolment from 1990 to 2004 more than doubled and the two lower socioeconomic quintiles increased participation in education (Cox, op. cit.).

^k The groups include teachers drawn from all the regions and phases.

Curriculum change can lead to temporary drops in attainment. This is even more likely when there is increased participation by more socio-economically deprived students, as was the case with Chile's SIMCE results in 2003 and 2006.⁴¹ Whilst it is important to find out why attainment has fallen and take steps to address the causes (if necessary), if there is broad agreement about the direction of change, it is less likely that long-term policy goals will be abandoned.

5 Why and how have successful and improving education systems changed the duration and structure of schooling alongside curriculum reform?

School structures and the duration of education

Curriculum reform is generally linked to changes in the duration and structure of schooling. The most fundamental reforms are a move from a double- to a single-shift day and the extension of the duration of free and/or compulsory schooling to allow for longer instruction time. The drive to raise the educational attainment of all students and equip them for a rapidly-changing work environment has led to policies that aim to delay the age of specialisation and/or the design of curriculum pathways so that students have the flexibility to change direction later in their school careers.

New Zealand carried out a review of the curriculum in place from 1992 to 2000/02, publishing a revised framework in 2007.42 The result was a curriculum shaped around seven compulsory 'essential learning areas' regarded as important for a broad, general education and eight groups of cross-curricular skills. Although⁴³ there was no change in school structures, schools were required to provide teaching in Years 1-10 in English, the arts, health and PE, mathematics and statistics, science, the social sciences and technology. These broad learning areas provided the starting point for greater specialisation in senior school (e.g. with social studies leading to economics, history etc) as well as the addition of subjects beyond the core (e.g. classical studies, legal studies). The curriculum was specifically designed to promote smooth transitions between phases of schooling, through a focus on literacy and numeracy in Years 1-6, and further development of literacy and numeracy coupled with a broader, deeper curriculum in Years 7-10 to lay the foundations for specialisation in Years 11-13. However, the curriculum in Years 11–13 was also designed to ensure that options for later study and employment remained open. Reform of examinations supported the principle of a curriculum where students built up their knowledge in stages: the National Certificate of Educational Achievement is a credit/unit-based qualification. Students aim to achieve Level 1 at the end of compulsory education, Level 2 at the end of Year 12 and Level 3 at the end of post-compulsory, upper secondary education (age 17-18).441

In Hong Kong there has been an evolution in the curriculum as well as in the structure and duration of education.⁴⁵ The underlying standards and subject content are largely

¹ Level 1 replaced the School Certificate in 2002, Level 2 was introduced in 2003 and Level 3 replaced the University Bursary examinations in 2004.

unchanged (see Annex E), but there is an emphasis on designing the curriculum to match the needs of students and to ensure they can acquire specified values and competencies.⁴⁶ Free compulsory education has been extended to 12 years' duration, from Primary 1 (aged 6–7) to Senior Secondary 6 (aged 17–18). The Target-Oriented Curriculum of 1995 was followed by Learning to Learn in 2001 and the New Senior Secondary Curriculum in 2009.⁴⁷

The revised curriculum for primary and junior secondary phases (the Basic Curriculum) was introduced in Hong Kong from 2001/02. It did not require significant structural changes. However, the New Senior Secondary School Curriculum framework began to be implemented from 2009 alongside a school structure comprising three years of junior secondary education and three years of secondary education leading into four years of tertiary education. Whereas the previous curriculum had two public exams (and therefore exit points) in Secondary Forms 5 and 7, the revised curriculum has only one public examination at Secondary Form 6/Year 12, with the intention that greater numbers of students should remain in education until age 17–18. While the emphasis on a broad and balanced curriculum is maintained into the senior secondary phase, this is the point at which schools are to 'offer different streams of subjects' to 'cater for the diverse aptitudes, interests and talents of students'.

In Chile, legislation in 1997 introduced the mandatory full school day. From 2004, Chile mandated 12 years of compulsory education, comprising eight years of primary education (for pupils aged 6–13) and four years of secondary education. Chile has retained two types of senior school (*liceos*) – the general (academic) and the vocational ('technical-professional'). However, the structure of the curriculum has been changed to delay specialisation from age 14 to age 16 (i.e. from grade 9 to grade 11).⁴⁸ Both strands contain both general and specialised elements in the final two years. The vocational specialisms in the final years have been revised in order to prepare students for work in an occupational sector. The number of specialisms has been reduced from 46 to 14. To maintain flexibility and choice, they are designed to prepare students for an employment sector rather than a specific job.

Ghana's own *Report on the development of education in Ghana* (September 2008) outlined a revised pre-tertiary education structure comprising two years of kindergarten, six years of primary, three years of junior high and four years of senior high school. Universal, free basic education comprises kindergarten, primary and junior high school – eleven years of education from ages 4 to 14. By 2008, 82% of students had completed a full course of primary education, so this remains an aspiration rather than a delivered structure.⁴⁹ The curriculum in the Report is matched to the phase structure, with an emphasis on a broad education focusing on six areas of learning until the start of junior high school. In junior high school this forms the basis for a programme comprising a core and specialised pathways (see Annex C). Alongside this, Ghana has Complementary Basic Education, designed to offer structured learning outside the formal school system.

The programmes are learner centred, skill-based and include functional literacy. They enable students to return to mainstream education.

Instruction time and other requirements for learning

Even with complementary school structures and curricula in place, the quality of student learning is dependent on a range of factors that have been described under the heading 'opportunity to learn'.⁵⁰ They include hours in the school year, days the school is open, teacher attendance and punctuality, student attendance and punctuality, teacher/ student ratio, instructional materials per student, time in classroom on task, and reading skills taught by grade. These are the absolute essentials for learning. They are of more fundamental importance than factors such as teacher qualifications, whether the curriculum is learner-centred or the use of continuous assessment.

Making time available

Irrespective of the quality of the teachers, if instruction time is insufficient, learning will be affected.⁵¹

The *Opportunity to learn*⁵² report recommends a minimum instruction time of 850–1,000 hours per year in developing countries. Target instruction time may well differ from actual instruction time because of teacher and student absence, abbreviated lessons and the interruption of other activities. Consequently actual instruction time needs to be monitored.

High-performing and improving systems are broadly in line with this recommendation. Hong Kong specifies 887 lesson hours^m per year for primary school students and 1,013 for junior secondary school students. New Zealand recommended (in 1999) instruction time of 950 hours per year, except for Years 1 and 2 where recommended instructional time equates to four rather than five hours per day.⁵³ After the reform of the secondary structure, Chile specified that students should have 6,552 hours of instruction over four years.⁵⁴

Ensuring instruction time is used effectively

Ghana requires⁵⁵ 1,000 hours of instruction per year of which English and mathematics comprise 40%. In preparing for national assessment, Ghana carried out studies⁵⁶ to identify potential issues. The survey found that lessons in many schools did not start on time and instructional time was interrupted. More than half the teachers did not follow the timetable and, partly as a result of poor use of instructional time, coupled with difficulties with curriculum content, the majority of teachers were able to cover only up to 80% of the content of the English syllabus; a third covered only 50% (with similar findings for mathematics). Both this report and the subsequent report on disappointing BECAS outcomes⁵⁷ identified the need for establishment of the 'opportunity to learn' standards and monitoring to ensure compliance with them.

Extending learning time

High-performing education systems extend learning beyond school instructional time.

- a. The most obvious way to do this is through homework. This is a strong tradition in the cultures of Asian systems such as Hong Kong and South Korea. Hong Kong's Curriculum Development Council recognised the both parents and teachers valued homework.⁵⁸ The reforms have aimed to build on the commitment to homework, while encouraging teachers to set tasks that extend learning and to explain their approach to parents. Small-scale research⁵⁹ recognised the value of homework as a way of reinforcing learning and deepening understanding. The research recommended a light homework load for junior primary students and a 'moderate' load of up to two hours a day as 'optimal' for senior primary students. Guidance to teachers advised⁶⁰ that for homework to be effective, the teachers should monitor time spent on it by students, identifying those students who needed tutoring to improve their study skills and offering advice. In addition, it identified 'learning time' as comprising not just lesson time, but also other time in school, including lunchtimes and the time that the school remained open after lessons. Schools were urged to make links between this schoolbased learning and 'life-wide' learning outside school (e.g. via community service, physical and aesthetic development and career-related experiences).
- b. Where the home environment is poor, completing homework and carrying out enrichment activities becomes less easy. In Hong Kong, in addition to giving pointers about possible enrichment activities,⁶¹ innovative schools are timetabling homework periods during school hours.⁶²

Access to textbooks is the key to extending learning beyond school in systems still building capacity.⁶³ The study of opportunity to learn carried out to support BECAS in Ghana identified unequal availability of textbooks as an issue in 2005. Subsequently, the Minister for Education reported in 2010 that the student/textbook ratio in core subjects in basic and senior high schools, as well as in technical institutes, was now 1:1.⁶⁴

Access to education in a second language

In many countries where English is not the first language, there is pressure for it to be used as the language of instruction – usually at junior high school level – because of the economic benefits it brings. Not surprisingly, the World Bank found a positive link between language proficiency and understanding (with obvious implications for performance in tests and examinations).⁶⁵

In high-performing systems, such as Hong Kong, the emphasis is on developing the ability to use language in 'authentic' situations.⁶⁶

6 How are strategic aims translated into curriculum structures?

In its report on the outcome of the 2009 PISA exercise, OECD identified features common to high-performing students. They include the ability to apply knowledge and skills in key subject areas, and the ability to analyse, reason and communicate effectively as they pose, interpret and solve problems, as well as mastering strategies to assist learning. These students' literacy skills extend beyond simple reading ability. They have learnt methods to help them remember, understand and summarise texts.⁶⁷

In order for students to demonstrate these skills and knowledge, they need a firm foundation of literacy and numeracy as well as access to a balanced and broadly-based range of subjects. They also need to develop values, attitudes and skills that will allow them to learn not just in school, but throughout their lives.

Literacy and numeracy

The OECD⁶⁸ defines literacy – in reading, mathematics and science – in terms of students' 'capacity to apply knowledge and skills in key subject areas and to their ability to analyse, reason and communicate effectively as they pose, interpret and solve problems in a variety of situations'. The 2009 report not only looked at how students in different countries performed, but also looked at how performance might be linked to cultural differences. In some cultures, students were better at direct reading tasks requiring them to find and interpret information; whereas in other cultures, students were better at reflecting on the implications of the content. Both types of skill are required. Policy and planning in some countries includes provision to make sure students develop both types of skills.

High-performing countries as well as those on an improvement trajectory put considerable emphasis on ensuring their students are literate and numerate. In New Zealand, literacy is seen as fundamental to learning: 'As language is central to learning and English is the medium for most learning in the New Zealand curriculum, the importance of literacy in English cannot be overstated.'⁶⁹ Consequently, in Years 1–6, the focus is on ensuring a sound foundation of literacy and numeracy skills, reinforced in Years 7–10. Since 1997, many schools have assessed pupils shortly after entry at the age of 5⁷⁰ in order to plan teaching programmes and to enable the Ministry of Education to build up a database to inform⁷¹ policy.ⁿ From 2010, the National Standards for reading, writing and mathematics came into effect⁷² to tackle the fact that 20% of students continued to leave school with inadequate literacy and numeracy skills. The Standards showed how teaching might be carried out and the outcomes to be expected of primary students in terms of performance at particular ages (i.e. skills that become progressively broader and deeper). The Standards are linked to existing effective literacy practice. They make clear the literacy demands of the entire curriculum, so that teachers can build literacy content appropriately

ⁿ The assessments look at emerging concepts about print (literacy), numeracy and oral language.

into all curriculum subjects. Teachers' judgements about students' performance need to take account, not just of how well a student is reading and writing, but how the student is using reading and writing as learning tools. (For further information, see Annex D.)

Although Chile's education reforms have been designed to improve both quality and equity, children in poor schools reportedly⁷³ scored far below average students in reading, writing and mathematics. Learning lessons from good practice in successful schools in similar circumstances, as well as from international experience, the Ministry of Education put in place measures from 2002 to improve performance. Overall, the aim was to have high expectations of both students and teachers and to give strong teaching support for students in all subjects. Measures included the establishment of early reading routines for all children in first grade, clear planning at all levels with monitoring of lesson delivery, and teaching routines common to all subjects and levels to achieve basic skills. This included 15 minutes' silent reading or mental arithmetic, a daily story hour for young children, a weekly hour at the library and a monthly theme around which students read, write, investigate and discuss. (For more details, see Annex A.) The OECD reported that Chile had shown significant increases in its reading scores in 2006. (There was a further small rise by 2009.)

Subjects

What subjects are studied and when?

Children usually start school (sometimes after attending pre-school/kindergarten) between the ages of five and seven. In the Czech Republic, for instance, 90% of children enrol aged five. In Poland, Slovenia, South Korea and Finland children enrol aged 6, whereas in the Netherlands they do so aged four. The first phase of school is designed to offer a broadly-based curriculum. While this becomes progressively more specialised, even in the vocational schools, a broad base of subjects is retained.

In Poland, for instance,⁷⁴ primary education is divided into two phases. The first, for grades 1–3 (for students starting aged 6–7) comprises an integrated curriculum taught by the classroom teacher and required to cover Polish language, music, art, social issues, natural sciences, mathematics, a modern foreign language, ICT, technology and PE – along with flexible time to be used as the headteacher considers appropriate to 'increase pupils' educational opportunities' – and either RE or ethics. In the second phase of primary school (grades 4–6) the broad base is somewhat extended (e.g. by the addition of history and physics) and taught by subject specialists. Building on this base, lower secondary education (for students aged 13–16) further splits out some subjects (e.g. introducing physics and astronomy, chemistry and biology in place of natural sciences) so they can be taught in more depth.

Even when students in Poland move into different types of school for the upper secondary phase, all continue to have access to a broad curriculum, though it differs in the detail. Students in general and specialised high schools follow a three-year compulsory

programme comprising Polish language, two modern foreign languages, history, civic education, culture studies, mathematics, physics and astronomy, chemistry, biology, geography, introduction to management, IT, PE and defence training. The curriculum in technical schools follows a four-year programme that is similar, but includes, additionally, 50 hours per week of vocational training (over the four-year period) relating to a particular profession. Students in vocational schools, where the programme lasts two years, have a similarly broad curriculum, albeit some subjects (e.g. history/civic education) are combined. Their programme includes 34 hours of vocational training per week (over the two-year period).

New Zealand takes broadly the same approach, identifying in *The New Zealand curriculum for English-medium teaching in Years* $1-13^{75}$ a series of learning areas seen as essential for a broad general education: English, the arts, health and PE, learning languages, mathematics and statistics, science, social sciences and technology. The learning areas are structured to provide the foundation for later specialisation in senior school. For instance, the achievement objectives 1-5 for social studies form the starting point for separate social studies disciplines^o at Levels 6–8 in senior school.

When Hong Kong began implementing curriculum reform in 2001, existing subjects were grouped into blocks called Key Learning Areas (KLAs): Chinese Language Education, English Language Education, Mathematics Education, Personal, Social and Humanities Education, Science Education, Technology Education, Arts Education and Physical Education. Schools providing basic education (i.e. for students in Primary 1 up to Secondary 3 or between the ages of 6 and 14)⁷⁶ were required to ensure that students all had the opportunity to study subjects from each of the KLAs to provide a broad and balanced curriculum. The New Senior Secondary Curriculum⁷⁷ introduced the concept of core subjects for all, with different pathways and electives open to students. Core subjects comprise Chinese language, English language, mathematics and liberal studies. (See Annex E.) Students then choose electives from three categories: NSS subjects (e.g. Biology, Accounting and Financial Studies, Chinese History, ICT); Applied Learning Subjects (e.g. Design Studies, Sports, Civil and Mechanical Engineering) and Other Language Subjects (e.g. French, Japanese, Hindi). Students may take two or three subjects or up to a maximum of eight subjects.

While there are contextual differences, similar patterns are evident in improving countries. (See Annex C.)

How are subjects structured? How does the structure support progression?

Subjects need to be structured so there is a common understanding of their aims and content, and to ensure that students have access to a coherent curriculum where important material is covered. The structure gives teachers a common framework, language and set of tools to discuss and plan their teaching programmes.

[°] For example, social studies, history, geography and economics (INCA: New Zealand).

Curriculum documents generally:

- a. start with an overarching description of the aims of the subject and the reason for studying it
- **b.** break the subject into a series of strands or dimensions, which may separate out or integrate knowledge with the acquisition of skills
- c. follow this with detailed learning objectives, often including a behavioural element to identify the performance/action required of the student; the emphasis goes beyond subject knowledge to the ability to gather, synthesise, interpret, evaluate and apply knowledge
- **d.** use language and terminology (and sometimes even typography) to set out the learning objectives so that it is possible to see how each objective builds on and expands on its predecessor objective
- e. link the learning objectives to age ranges and/or schooling cycles (e.g. KS1, lower secondary).

In Hong Kong, curriculum guidance for each of the KLAs follows broadly the same pattern, including a chapter setting out aims, learning targets and objectives:

- a. The aims and targets are at a high level. For example, the 'subject' target for English Language is for learners to develop an ever-improving capability to use English, including the capacity to think and communicate.
- b. The learning targets break down the abilities to be developed through the particular KLA. In English language these are interpersonal skills, acquisition, interpretation and use of knowledge to solve problems, and experience that is, the ability to respond to/ express real and imaginative experience largely through literary or creative texts.
- **c.** The objectives lie within the learning targets and are written so that it is possible to see how each level deepens and expands prior learning.

For instance, the objectives for the Knowledge Learning Target in English language include:

a. At KS1 (i.e. P1–3): To recognise some obvious features of the English language in simple spoken and written texts such as the direction of writing in English, the characteristics of an alphabetic script and the sound patterns of English; and apply this awareness to one's initial learning and use of the language.

- b. By KS2, this has become: To understand some aspects of how English language works, including how grammatical features contribute to meaning and how simple texts are organised; and apply this understanding to one's learning and use of the language.
- **c.** By KS4 (S4–5), the related objective is: To understand how the English language works in a wide range of contexts and how more complex texts are organised and expressed; and apply this understanding to one's learning and use of the language. (More details are available in Annex E.)

Achievement objectives in the New Zealand curriculum are broadly similar, though the structure of the objectives differs according to subject area and there is even more emphasis on describing what students can do, and, therefore, the evidence of attainment that teachers are to look for.^p The English Essential Learning Area⁷⁸ is divided into two strands, each including oral, written and visual forms of the language in two modes:

- Making meaning out of ideas or information students receive (listening, reading, viewing)
- b. Creating meaning for themselves or others (speaking, writing, presenting)

As they progress through the levels of performance, students in New Zealand are expected to develop and demonstrate knowledge, skills and understanding in relation to:

- a. text purposes and audiences
- b. ideas within language contexts
- c. language features that enhance texts
- d. the structure and organisation of texts.

(See Annex D for more details.)

Similar frameworks exist or are under development in other countries including Chile,⁷⁹ Australia (e.g. Queensland), Canada (British Columbia) and South Korea. In the Netherlands, the National Institute for Curriculum Development has developed guidelines for primary education in mathematics and Dutch for primary schools. These include goals to be achieved and appropriate subject matter.

Which parts of the curriculum are prescribed? What are the appropriate flexibilities?

All governments have a duty to make sure that students have access to an agreed amount of education, covering the content and skills they have determined are appropriate. Beyond that, the amount of regulation of school-level and even classroomlevel curriculum plans and teaching programmes will depend on the knowledge and skills

^p This is a reflection of the fact that New Zealand teachers carry most of the responsibility for student assessment.

of the teachers and the extent to which there is a shared understanding of the purposes of the curriculum and assessment.

This is broadly true of high-performing and improving education systems. However, there are differences in approach, even among high-performing systems, deriving from past experience and cultural background.

In South Korea, the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology publishes the national curriculum in the form of circulars which prescribe the range of subjects to be offered at each level, content and time allocations.⁸⁰ In Hong Kong, the underlying syllabi have remain unchanged since 1999. The Report from the CDC setting out proposals for curriculum change⁸¹ clarified where the schools have discretion. They must adhere to CDC requirements for learning time, learning targets and essential content, to ensure students receive their entitlement. However, schools have flexibility about the way they organise curriculum content, contexts and examples, learning and teaching strategies, the pace of learning and teaching, homework, as well as criteria and modes of assessment. Schools are also able to take account of their strengths; while they have to make available subjects from within each KLA, there is no expectation of out-of-field teaching (that is, asking teachers to teach subjects in which they are not 'specialised'). Similarly,⁸² in designing the New Secondary School Curriculum, schools were allowed to choose the electives to offer.

In the Netherlands, the Ministry of Education has legislated to establish attainment targets which describe the subject matter to be covered.⁸³ Neither teaching approaches nor time allocations are prescribed. The Ministry of Education provides short documents covering core objectives for primary education (ages 5–12) and secondary education (ages 12–16). Schools are free to group these into subjects, projects or areas of learning. Schools are accountable for their curriculum policies and have to demonstrate how they have included all the attainment targets in their curriculum.

New Zealand takes a similar approach while offering considerable guidance. The revised New Zealand Curriculum for English-medium teaching and learning in Years 1–13 gives comprehensive advice on teaching, curriculum review, the achievement objectives for the essential learning areas and assessment. While schools have a legal duty to teach the essential learning areas, as well as meeting the requirements relating to principles, values and key competencies, the responsibility for curriculum design rests with them.⁸⁴ The essential learning areas can be taught as distinct subjects or linked. However, in reviewing and developing their curriculum, schools are encouraged to use the overall Learning Area Statements for each Essential Learning Area to construct programmes rather than fragmented achievement objectives. There is the flexibility to teach the Essential Learning Areas as distinct subjects or in linked blocks. The priority is to have statements of learning expectations that clearly build on students' prior learning and are understood by teachers, students and parents. However, concerns about literacy and numeracy led to later

introduction of requirements for integration of National Standards materials – although actual decisions about how this was to be done rested with schools.

Delegation of increasing responsibility and autonomy to schools depends on ensuring they have the capacity and shared understanding of educational purposes. In Poland, there have been continuing developments to the curriculum. Legislation in 1999 and 2002, with changes in 2009, has determined the core curricula, outline timetables and the school year. Within this framework, schools have had the flexibility to design their own curricula and the headteacher is able to use the flexible hours (12 hours per week in primary, reducing in secondary) for activities he or she considers will 'increase pupils' educational opportunities'. However, the Government planned to introduce further changes by 2012 to give more freedom in terms of timetables, assessment and examinations. From 2009/10, for instance, the timetable for lower secondary school no longer specified subject hours per week, but instead minimum hours of instruction per subject in a three-year cycle (e.g. Polish language 450 hours, mathematics 385 hours).⁸⁵

Sub-Saharan countries including Ghana⁸⁶ are moving to simplify the curriculum so that it contains a 'more focused, cost-effective and manageable structure'. This move makes it easier to gather data to monitor compliance. At present Ghana cannot be confident that the curriculum is being taught. *The National Action Plan: Education for All: Ghana:* 2003–2015 planned to strengthen the supervision and inspection systems from 2004.

Cross-curricular themes/skills

Acquisition of sound and up-to-date subject knowledge remains important. However, high-performing and improving countries have also identified a range of skills and competencies they consider critical to successful learning, participation in society and contribution to the economy. They are presented in a variety of ways, reflecting countries' particular cultures, values and circumstances, but include an increased emphasis on the development of skills and competencies associated with working life.⁸⁷ This is stated explicitly in the curricula of many countries (e.g. Australia's key competencies, Alberta, Canada's essential learnings, and the Netherlands' core objectives) with guidance about how students can gain relevant experience (e.g. Hong Kong CDC Report and Curriculum Guides):

- a. Critical thinking and problem-solving
- **b.** Study skills and the capacity for independent learning; the capacity to recognise areas of weakness and strength, laying the groundwork for lifelong learning
- c. Health, physical development, exercise
- d. Interpersonal and social skills, including teamwork
- e. Environmental issues/sustainable development

- f. Developing creativity/artistic/creative/cultural skills. J. Le Métais noted that a recent thematic INCA study had shown increased emphasis on creativity within curriculum, attributing it in part to its links to economic competitiveness. However, it is difficult to assess, especially in high-stakes assessment regimes (e.g. England)⁸⁸ which may limit the attention creativity gets in the classroom
- **g.** Citizenship, i.e. the preparation of students to participate in society and the transmission of values regarded as appropriate by the particular system (e.g. Poland reflects its increased European orientation).⁸⁹

New Zealand's revised curriculum⁹⁰ for instance, has a 'Vision' for young people to be confident (e.g. motivated and reliable, positive in their own identity), connected (ranging from interpersonal skills, through responsible citizenship to use of ICT), actively involved (e.g. contributing to the social, economic and environmental well-being of New Zealand) and lifelong learners. The related competencies include: thinking, using language, symbols and texts, managing self, relating to others, and participating and contributing. In addition to stressing the critical importance of literacy and numeracy, the revised curriculum makes explicit the need to give students the specialised tools to learn each subject:

- a. Specialist vocabulary for the area
- b. How to read and understand [the subject's] texts
- c. How to communicate knowledge and ideas in appropriate ways
- d. How to listen and read critically, assessing the value of what they hear and read

The reformed Hong Kong curriculum for basic education⁹¹ identified similar generic skills, including collaboration, communication, creativity, critical thinking, information technology, numeracy, problem-solving, self-management and study skills,^q with priority given to critical thinking, creativity and communication. The New Senior Secondary Curriculum⁹² designed 'for all to succeed', was based on 15–35% of learning time being devoted to learning experiences other than the core and elective subjects, including moral and civic education, aesthetic education, career-related experiences and physical development.

In Hong Kong's curriculum, the underlying subject knowledge and standards remain largely unchanged from the 1999 syllabi, giving continuity. But the approach to teaching has changed. Instead of the curriculum as 'documents', it is to be designed as 'learning experiences'⁹³ categorised as: moral and civic education, intellectual development, community service, physical and aesthetic development, and career-related experiences. In the first phase of implementation, scheduled for 2001/02 to 2005/06, the CDC invited schools to review their current position and, if ready, to begin to develop school-based curricula. The CDC also stressed the importance of 'the four key tasks' to promote effective learning and teaching, i.e.

^q For instance, the curriculum guide for Maths for Primary 1 – Secondary 3 talks about acquiring not just knowledge and skills, but learning how to learn. Mathematics education: KLA curriculum guide (Primary 1 – Secondary 3). HK CDC, 2002.

- **a.** Moral and civic education to establish values and attitudes (e.g. responsibility, perseverance, national identity)
- b. Reading to learn strategies for learning more effectively
- c. Project learning to develop generic skills and build knowledge
- d. Using ICT for interactive learning

Revisions to Chile's secondary curriculum show the same changes in favour of an emphasis on skills and competencies rather than simply subject knowledge, updating and enriching subjects or requiring higher standards of achievement, ensuring relevance by linking school work to students' own lives, as well as the promotion of values, such as 'civic habits', democracy and human rights.⁹⁴

Ghana expresses similar aspirations.95

7 Assessment

What are the purposes of assessment?

While they have different rates of progress, high-performing and improving education systems are changing their assessment systems alongside changes to their curricula (and study pathways). Their purpose is to ensure that as many students as possible achieve as much as possible. Therefore, the focus is on:

- **a.** establishing standards and benchmarks as a basis for the diagnostic evaluation of students' performance
- b. designing qualification systems that allow transfer between different study routes.

Assessment has three main objectives:

- a. To improve student learning i.e. formative assessment^r
- b. To help decisions about selection for particular education pathways, and/or
- c. To award qualifications i.e. summative assessment.

In Poland, for instance, the functions of the national system of examinations are to award qualifications, to provide information on student strengths and weaknesses, and to assess the effectiveness of teaching.⁹⁶

^r Most forms of assessment have the potential to contribute information about students' prior learning, which is vital information for teachers planning for progression.

In addition, systems are looking for data that will enable them to monitor the performance of system components and make adjustments to them to improve education overall. One of the sources of such data is student assessment. Monitoring might also include setting and monitoring targets for educational outcomes at school, regional and national levels. Singapore,⁹⁷ for example, sets education targets in line with manpower planning and economic and social development strategies.⁸

There are common features to high-performing and improving systems' assessment arrangements:

- **a.** A framework of qualifications, differentiated by levels of attainment/qualification, as well as the number and types of subjects taken by students
- **b.** Reductions in the number of qualifications, for example in Poland, Chile and Hong Kong. This is particularly noticeable in vocational areas, where more broadly-based groupings are designed to provide a flexible basis for greater specialisation when the need arises.
- **c.** Reliable standards, linked to the curriculum, based on detailed descriptions of student performance at different levels and developed in close collaboration with the teaching profession; New Zealand's Ministry of Education and Qualifications Authority⁹⁸ contracted the subject associations to consult the education sector on proposed new standards and subsequently to write the draft standards. Ghana's objectives in developing the Basic Education Comprehensive Education System⁹⁹ included the establishment of standardised measures of learning at particular levels and times in the basic education system, setting realistic expectations in laying down examination standards to reflect the curriculum specified by Ghana Education Service and using the results for improvement at school and system level.
- d. External administration and monitoring to ensure objectivity, reliability and credibility of assessment: Poland's Regional Examination Boards are responsible for the Competency Test in Year 6 of primary school, the Lower Secondary School (Gymnasium) Examination in Year 3 of lower secondary school which contributes to decisions about students' subsequent destinations, the 'New Matura', which is the basis for entry to universities and colleges of further education, and the vocational examination.¹⁰⁰ In New Zealand,¹⁰¹ the New Zealand Qualifications Authority sets the standards for secondary school qualifications, manages the external assessment of secondary school students, moderates the quality of internal assessment, maintains students' electronic Record of Achievement, produces reports on national assessment (including individual schools' assessment capability), monitors results over time, and advises on improvements to policy and practice.

^s The 2000 target was for 25% of students to achieve a university degree and for a further 40% to achieve polytechnic diplomas. By 1999, more than 70% of students had progressed to higher education.

- e. A reduction in the number of high-stakes tests used as gateways to progression. Hong Kong has eliminated the Academic Aptitude Test¹⁰² at the end of primary school as well as the Hong Kong Certificate of Education Examination, which governed progression to the final two years of secondary school and, therefore, access to university. Ghana has two gateways to progression: the Basic Examination Certificate in Education after nine years of education, giving access to secondary education, and the Senior Secondary School Examination Certificate giving access to tertiary education.¹⁰³
- f. While it may be desirable and cost-effective to use student assessment for formative and summative purposes at individual student level, as well as for policy-making, it is often difficult to do so. This is partly because monitoring data may be insufficiently fine-grained for formative use and partly due to the need to develop the ability of school leaders and teachers to interpret the data and apply findings to improve teaching and learning as Chile has found.¹⁰⁴ New Zealand¹⁰⁵ puts the main focus on the student, considering that assessment can be used to achieve improvement if learning from assessment at classroom, school and system level is brought together. In this scenario, teachers' assessment capability is crucial. In addition to data coming from individual students' formative and summative assessment outcomes, New Zealand uses specially-trained teachers' to carry out the National Education Monitoring Project,¹⁰⁶ which is specifically designed to inform policy.
- **g.** Development and use of a range of assessment instruments¹⁰⁷ to ensure that the knowledge and skills in curricula are tested appropriately. Assessment arrangements drive what is taught.

What forms of assessment are available?

Assessment can be carried out in a range of ways, including: tests and examinations, oral assessment (including formal oral examinations and classroom discussion, for example), portfolios, projects, and practical work (e.g. scientific experiments, creation of artefacts).

The selection of the assessment tool needs to take account of:

- a. the knowledge and skills to be tested
- b. the capabilities of those undertaking the testing
- c. the familiarity of the students with the form of assessment.

In Ghana, a review¹⁰⁸ of national (sample) assessment identified the need for continued training for test administrators, to ensure students were able to deal with the mechanics of completing the test and a requirement to ensure test administration was monitored by staff who were thoroughly briefed. Poland prepared for national monitoring¹⁰⁹ by carrying out pilots which showed similar problems. Since, at that stage, teachers were not used to supervising and marking externally-set assessments, the pilots were organised and

^t A sample 3% of children in Year 4 (8–9 years), Year 8 (12–13) were involved in the National Education Monitoring Project: (a) Annual, covering all curriculum areas over a 4-year period; (b) Circa 3,000 students / 260 schools selected randomly; support/approval of parents/schools sought

supervised by regional coordinators and pupils' responses were marked by the survey team to ensure consistency. This built a core of experts who were available to train teachers later.

When introducing new curricula, improving systems need to establish reliable banks of test items as well as supporting processes. Poland established Central and Regional Examination Commissions¹¹⁰ and drew on external expertise, including working with the former Associated Examining Board and Brunel University.¹¹¹ Ghana's BECAS project^u was used to develop National Education Assessment (NEA), School Education Assessment (SEA) and Continuous Assessment (CA).¹¹² Seventeen sets of assessment instruments were produced and the Ghana Education Service staff were trained to use and adapt them for monitoring and diagnostic purposes.^v

In systems where teachers and administrators are experienced and syllabi, standards and processes are well-established, the challenge is to introduce more sophisticated forms of assessment, focusing on individual students. In introducing the curriculum changes at the start of the 21st century, Hong Kong promoted new assessment tools as well as the use of formative assessment. Despite support and reassurance, these changes have proved technically challenging and time-consuming.¹¹³

Formative assessment: improving student learning

What is formative assessment?

Formative assessment is a process of gathering a range of data about students' performance in order to evaluate learning and diagnose areas needing further work. Student-centred, formative assessment is a goal for high-performing and improving systems which see it as a mechanism for driving improvement from the individual student in the classroom up through the system.¹¹⁴

The OECD identified four benefits to formative assessment:115

- a. A link to marked gains in student attainment
- b. Improved equity of student outcomes
- **c.** Teachers being able to identify why students are learning differently and adapt their teaching to meet individual needs
- **d.** Enabling students to develop their learning skills, including the ability to evaluate their work against clear criteria.

[&]quot; Basic Education Comprehensive Assessment System: a three-year project funded through USAID EQUIP

NEA: curriculum-based competency assessment, sampling the performance of schools across Ghana. Assessment against national benchmarks of performance for pupils in grades 3 and 6 in relation to English, mathematics and Ghanaian language. SEA: links specific test items to core objectives; administered every two years at grades 2, 4 and 6. Designed to be used as a diagnostic tool to inform teachers (and to provide information for communication to parents). Continuous assessment: to be used in grades 1 and 3 for diagnostic purposes by teacher. Republic of Ghana: Report on the development of education in Ghana, September 2008.

How is formative assessment used?

In New Zealand, where there has been a long period of curriculum and assessment development, teachers are expected to make both tacit^w and explicit judgements based on information from a wide range of sources (to improve reliability), informed by detailed guidance and exemplification. In Hong Kong, which has placed a greater emphasis on the use of tests for internal assessment and planning purposes, teachers are being encouraged to select the most appropriate assessment tool or use other mechanisms to evaluate and give feedback on students' progress.^x This is difficult for teachers: it requires them to learn new skills. It also requires them to change approaches: they have seen testing as a way of practising for final examinations as well as a way of spotting areas for improvement. Moreover, parents expect high levels of testing, homework and 'exhortations to work hard'.¹¹⁶ Therefore, in addition to providing support for student-centred assessment, policy-makers have advised on communications with parents to develop understanding and cooperation.¹¹⁷

Assessment geared to improvement also depends on the commitment of students and their parents. In Poland, for instance,¹¹⁸ students and parents are informed about assessment requirements. Students are told what is expected of them in order to obtain a 'good' or 'satisfactory' grade as defined by reference to the curriculum and standards of achievement for each stage of education. In Hong Kong, the CDC advises¹¹⁹ that students should be involved so that they learn from the process (for instance, by thinking about what they have learnt) as well as achieving outcomes (such as passing examinations), knowledge and skills (such as problem-solving). Culturally, there is a long-established belief that students have responsibility for their own improvement.¹²⁰

Making selection decisions and awarding qualifications

What is summative assessment?

Summative assessment is used to decide whether students will progress from one class/ grade to the next at the end of the academic year, their eligibility for the next institution or scholastic pathway, and the qualifications they will receive.

It often differs according to the age of the student, generally (though not always) becoming more formal and externally-designed in the secondary phase.

Relatively few systems hold back students who have failed to demonstrate competence. In Poland, progression is dependent on achievement of satisfactory grades for all subjects. However, students also have the option of taking an examination if they dispute the school's assessment.¹²¹

^{*} That is, running judgements, possibly not even written down, used to adjust teaching during lessons. For instance, the NZ Curriculum for Englishmedium teaching and learning in Years 1–13 advises on assessment: 'Analysis and interpretation often take place in the mind of the teacher, who then uses the insights gained to shape their actions as they continue to work with their students.' Evidence is 'of the moment'.

For example, observation notes, checklists, logbooks, portfolios, photographs, recordings, annotated work; combining course marks and examination marks; using grades or profiles rather than marks.

In many systems, assessment in the primary phase is carried out by the classroom teachers, though there may be national testing at a transitional point to monitor overall performance. In Poland, in Years 1–3, teachers assess students and make a descriptive assessment. In primary Year 4, this is replaced by termly and annual grades for each subject (and behaviour). In order to progress to secondary school, students must take a Competence Test lasting an hour. It integrates subjects and tests skills and abilities against the attainment standards for reading, writing, reasoning, using information and applying knowledge. It was introduced in 2002 and is used for monitoring and diagnostic purposes.¹²²

The next transition point tends to be at the end of basic education/lower secondary education, when students are aged around 15 and/or at the end of their time in school. Assessment generally covers a broadly-based core curriculum, though there may already be some scope for specialisation. In Poland, this comprises a two-part external examination: the first part tests the humanities and the second science (including mathematics and geography, as well as pure sciences). Results are taken into account when determining students' subsequent education.¹²³ In New Zealand, the NCEA comprises credits which are awarded on the basis of formal assessments carried out both internally (i.e. by teachers) and externally. In Chile, building on curriculum reforms, in 2000 university entrance examinations were changed from a scholastic-aptitude type test to one relating to the curriculum. This was introduced to strengthen students' preparation for undergraduate education and improve the motivation of students and teachers.¹²⁴

Hong Kong replaced the Hong Kong Certificate of Education Examination (which determined whether students could progress from Secondary 5 to Secondary 6) and the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examinations (which determined entrance to university and other tertiary courses) with the Hong Kong Diploma in Secondary Education. Doing so not only removed a barrier to further education, but also introduced moderated teacher assessment alongside an external terminal examination. However, in keeping with the principle of continuity underlying curriculum reform,

a. comparability was maintained with the standards¹²⁵ of HKCEE and HKALE^y

b. the learning targets related closely to the Bands of Learning set out in the syllabi.^z

Why use standards-based assessment? What do the standards look like?

High-performing and improving systems have established close links between the curriculum and assessment so that assessment is carried out on the basis of objective descriptions of what students know, understand and can do. The OECD reported¹²⁶ that in systems using standards-based external examinations, students tend to do better overall, with smaller gaps in performance between students of different socio-economic backgrounds.

^y Levels 4 and 5 of HKDSE were anticipated as equating to grades A–D of HKALE.

² For example, the English Language Learning Target for Key Stage 4 (S4–5) in the Interpersonal Strand is: 'To establish and maintain relationships and routines in school and community and work situations'. The comparable Dimension from the syllabus is: 'Learners are able to establish and develop relationships in a variety of contexts; to converse on a range of topics fluently; to participate effectively in working with others; and to provide and obtain information and services in a range of real and simulated situations'. (For more detail, see Annex E.)

Standards enable education systems to establish systematically-organised qualifications pathways.¹²⁷ New Zealand¹²⁸ has moved away from norm-referenced assessment to standards-based assessment, set out in achievement objectives which describe what students can do and, therefore, the evidence teachers are to look for. The objectives show how students' capabilities are built up.^{aa}

Development of standards in New Zealand has enabled the creation of a clear and logical national qualifications framework supporting lifelong learning. In schools, standards match curriculum levels 1–8. In 2002 the National Certificate of Educational Achievement replaced the School Certificate, sixth-form certificates and university bursaries. Students are awarded National Certificates when they have accumulated sufficient credits by being assessed against National Qualifications Framework standards which are linked to curriculum levels 6–8:¹²⁹

a. Level 1 (Year 11 / fifth form) replaced School Certificate in 2002 (broadly GCSE).

b. Level 2 (Year 12 / sixth form) was introduced in 2003.

c. Level 3 (Year 13 / seventh form) replaced university bursaries in 2004 (broadly A Level).

The National Qualifications Framework^{bb} provides a comprehensive qualifications framework encompassing senior secondary education, tertiary education (including university level) and industry training. It, too, is based on eight standards of performance ranging from National Certificates to National Diplomas and degrees. Level 1 is equivalent to Year 11 or Form 5 in school; National Diplomas and degrees are generally at levels 6–7, with postgraduate degree learning at Level 8. As learners attain outcomes, they receive credit towards qualifications registered in a Record of Learning. Achievement of sufficient credits at specified levels leads to the award of a qualification.

In Poland, the reforms to the assessment system introduced from 2002 were designed to ensure comparability between qualifications. Establishing uniform and detailed attainment standards was seen as necessary to ensure objective, standardised external assessment, with administration the responsibility of Regional Examination Boards.¹³⁰

Through the Basic Education Comprehensive Assessment Project, Ghana developed the foundations of a system of standards for use in assessment. It includes the School Education Assessment which tests for minimum levels of performance required of students for progression. Minimum competency was set at 35% (i.e. 10% above the chance score of 25%) and proficiency was set at 55%, which educators considered equipped the student to work at the next level^{cc} in school.¹³¹

^{aa} The Language strand Listening, Reading and Viewing, for example, has sets of indicators for processes and strategies to enable teachers to make a rounded judgement. Among the Level 4 indicators is 'Integrates sources of information and prior knowledge confidently to make sense of increasingly varied and complex texts'. In order to demonstrate attainment of Level 8, students must be able to show they can 'integrate(s) sources of information and prior knowledge *purposefully*, confidently and *precisely* to make sense of increasingly varied and complex texts.' (More details in Annex D.)

^{bb} Administered by the New Zealand Qualifications Authority.

 $^{^{\}circ\circ}$ that is, grade/class

8 Pedagogy: What part do teachers' capabilities play in the design and implementation of changes to the curriculum and assessment?

What can education systems ask of teachers?

Improving and effective systems start from a sound understanding of the knowledge and skills of their teachers. These systems ensure that the design and implementation of curriculum and assessment are matched to teachers' capabilities. However, curriculum and assessment policies include scope for further development and challenge as teachers' capabilities (and those of the related workforce) increase.

Where teacher numbers and capacity are low, capacity to undertake policy development and implementation also tends to be limited and the administrative/operational infrastructure weak. The priorities for these systems are:

- a. improving literacy and numeracy
- b. making sure the curriculum is taught accurately
- c. monitoring to make sure teachers are giving the time required to teaching, providing textbooks and notes for teachers
- d. frequent student assessments to check that lesson objectives were being met.132

As teachers, headteachers, policy-makers and administrators become more skilled, the demands of the curriculum and assessment can become more complex. Schools become more independent; there is increased self-evaluation and greater flexibility to innovate in curriculum design within broad frameworks. Consistency is guaranteed through detailed description and exemplification of standards as well as quality assurance and moderation of assessments.

All education systems, whether high-performing or improving, require particular knowledge and skills of their teachers in order to achieve the aims and objectives of their curriculum and assessment policies. These may be implied or stated explicitly and include:

- **a.** knowledge and understanding of the content of the subjects they teach, together with an increasing range of teaching methods
- b. building relationships with their students so that they learn
- c. designing programmes of learning that students regard as relevant and related to their own experience

- d. greater emphasis on critical and analytical thinking
- e. emphasis on teaching styles that encourage student participation and problemsolving^{dd} rather than rote learning
- f. enabling students to be independent learners.¹³³

As systems try to raise the attainment of all students to even higher levels, demands on teachers' professional skills increase. They need to:

- a. be aware of their own teaching strengths, how to use existing strengths and widen their repertoire of teaching styles
- **b.** use evidence from research, thinking about their own teaching and discussions with colleagues to improve teaching and learning strategies
- c. draw on the curriculum framework to design learning and teaching programmes that respond to the needs and capabilities of students, making connections to their prior learning and experience
- **d.** create a supportive learning environment for all pupils, including the gifted and those with special needs
- e. be able to adjust classroom organisation and groupings in order to use different teaching strategies
- f. be able to select appropriately, not just from textbooks, but from a wide range of other materials and technologies (e.g. ICT for interactive learning)
- **g.** extend learning opportunities by providing experiences out of school, including in the community and in workplaces
- **h.** be able to carry out both formal and informal ongoing assessment and provide feedback, to enable students to improve their performance
- i. use a range of assessment methods and data sources to obtain a rounded picture of students' strengths and weaknesses.

dd that is, to become a facilitator, provider of resources, adviser and assessor.

Table 1 below describes what teaching and assessment might look like in the classroom^{ee} when practised by progressively more skilled teachers.¹³⁴

Level	Classroom interaction	Assessment						
1	Teacher : presents content in well-organised, correct and well-sequenced manner, based on well-designed lesson plan. Provides adequate notes. Uses textbooks effectively. Engages learners with questions. Student : stays attentive and engaged. Responds to and initiates questions.	Written tests are given that cover topics adequately. While most questions are of the recall type, some require higher-order thinking. Tests are marked and returned promptly.						
2	Teacher : uses textbooks along with other resources. Engages students with questions that encourage in-depth thinking. Student : uses additional (to textbook) sources of information in compiling notes. Engages in meaningful group work. On own initiative, offers a contribution to the lesson.	Written tests include at least 50% of questions that require comprehension, application and analysis. Where applicable, some questions are based on practical work.						
3	Teacher : probes students' prior knowledge and learning. Structures learning activities along lines of relevant knowledge, knowledge construction and problem solving techniques. Student : engages mind on learning activities. Makes own notes on the concepts learnt from doing these activities.	Written tests include questions based on seen or unseen guided discovery type activities. Assessment is based on more than written tests. Other forms of assessment might include reports on activities undertaken, project work, reports on extra reading assignments.						
4	Student : takes major responsibility for own learning; partakes in the planning and assessment of own learning. Undertakes long-term projects (if possible community based.). Teacher : facilitates students as they design and undertake long-term investigations and projects. Assists students to weigh up the merits of different theories and knowledge.	Performances on open investigations are included in the final assessment. Students create portfolios to represent their best work.						
Note: Four starting points for classroom interaction and assessment. Attempting to express how good practice may look in classrooms. Higher levels incorporate preceding levels' practices.								

^{ee} Adapted from Table 16 in World Bank Paper 128: Curricula, examinations, and assessment in secondary education in Sub-Saharan Africa (2008) which, in turn adapted it from Rogan 2001: 'Towards a theory of curriculum implementation with particular reference to science education in developing countries', International journal of science education, 25,10, 1171-1204.

Changes need to take account of teachers' capabilities and plan for sustained investment in professional development

It takes a long time to improve student attainment through changes to the curriculum and assessment.

Table 2 is derived from McKinsey & Company's report on improving education systems: *How the world's most improved school systems keep getting better*,^{ff} November 2010.⁹⁹

Country	Poor to Fair (P-F)		Fair to Good (F-G)		Good to Great (G-Gr)		Great to Excellent: Countries on the way (G-E)		Move- ment	Total duration to date
	Dates	Duration	Dates	Duration	Dates	Duration	Dates	Duration		
Chile	2001-5	4	2006+	5						
Ghana	2003+	8								
Hong Kong			1983- 1988	5	1988- 1999	11	2000+	11	P-F/G	9
Poland			2000- 2002	2	2003+	8			P-F	8
Singapore			1983- 1987	4	1988- 1998	10	1999+	12	F-E	27
Slovenia			1995- 2005	10	2006+	5			F-G/Gr	13
South Korea					1983- 1998	15	1999+	12	Gr-E	27

Table 2

This report seems to suggest that moving attainment levels from 'Fair' or even 'Good' in the direction of 'Excellent' takes almost 30 years, and from 'Fair' towards 'Great' up to 15 years. Arguably the most challenging stage is the movement from 'Fair' to 'Good', though some countries, such as Poland, have achieved this relatively quickly.

Since teaching quality is arguably the most important determinant of student outcomes,¹³⁵ plans for implementing curriculum reforms need to give priority to improving teaching. This is particularly the case where widening access means a more diverse¹³⁶ student body.^{hh} One of the most significant reasons for the lengthy timescales is the need to develop teacher capacity, taking realistic account of existing capability, setting reasonable challenges for improvement and making available appropriate support. The more effective systems build on existing capabilities rather than pursuing radical change.

^{ff} Including exhibits 8, 9, 12, 15 and 17.

⁹⁰ The most recent McKinsey report on improving education systems (*How the world's most improved school systems keep getting better*) classified school systems as poor, fair, good or great, drawing on outcomes of their participation in international assessments e.g. TIMSS, PISA, PIRLS and NAEP across a range of grades/levels/phases and subjects from 1995 to 2007 and using the methodology of Hanushek et al. to 'normalise' the assessment scales into a single universal scale and attribute systems to particular categories to the extent to which they deviated from the mean for a particular category.

hh The World Bank paper is written about Sub-Saharan Africa, but the principles are more generally applicable.

Some curriculum and assessment reforms require changes to practice that cannot be accomplished in one step, but incrementally. This is most marked where teachers may have started from a low skill base. The Chilean Ministry of Education¹³⁷ is reported as having concluded, even as late as 2004, that most teachers were at a transitional stage between traditional teaching styles and more innovative approaches: although student/ teacher relationships were better, teachers' practice still lacked 'a clear orientation towards specific learning goals'.

As the knowledge and skills of teachers increase, there is scope not just for a more innovative approach to the curriculum and assessment, but also for additional flexibility. In Poland, for instance, teachers are able to select their own teaching methodology.¹³¹³⁰ In Hong Kong teachers were encouraged to build their teaching skills from the foundation of existing strengths¹³⁹ and given extensive descriptions and examples of how this might look in practice. Similar detailed exemplification was available to teachers in New Zealand: for example, *the National standards: information for schools*, introducing the National Standards, relates them to existing effective literacy practice, including Ready to Read.

What monitoring and support do teachers need?

Monitoring and support includes supervision, advice and inspection, and the provision of guidance, exemplars, and textbooks.

The second McKinsey report on improving education systems¹⁴⁰ proposes support for improvement which is differentiated according to their level of performance. It shows that:

- **a.** the initial priority is a focus on achieving a uniform minimum level of quality in terms of student access, what is taught, how it is taught and monitoring learning
- **b.** there can be greater freedom for schools and teachers as their capability and capacity grow
- **c.** the importance of recognising links with other parts of the education system, including quality assurance and professional development.

While Ghana's education system performance has improved, the McKinsey report argues that it has not moved beyond the 'Poor to Fair' classification. Ghana has revised its curriculum and promoted teaching designed to encourage active learning. However, in a survey of systems in sub-Saharan Africa, the World Bank identified a number of general system features, such as low allocation of teachers and absenteeism, which slowed improvement, and proposed the following:¹⁴¹

a. Ensuring that basic teaching materials were distributed to schools, that schools managed, maintained and organised the materials so that teachers had the opportunity to use them, and that teachers had the capability and motivation to use them

- b. In order to move teachers from didactic mode to a more interactive way of teaching, and implement changes to curriculum and assessment, teachers would need more support, including:
- i. Explanation of the reasons for change based on research and evidence
- ii. Demonstrations of what the change meant in practice
- iii. Materials exemplifying good practice in curriculum delivery
- iv. Opportunities to experiment with activities exemplifying the change
- v. Guidance, exemplification and other resources.

This type of support is available to schools and teachers in high-performing systems. In introducing curriculum reform at the start of the 21st century, Hong Kong¹⁴² not only set out an implementation timetable, but also identified the ways in which this would be supported. Support included curriculum guidance, examples of the new approach in practice, textbooks, professional development programmes (including web-based, formal programmes, action learning, school-based curriculum development teams to provide onsite advice), development of library facilities and 'seed projects'. In Hong Kong¹⁴³ teachers were given the opportunity to participate in shaping curriculum implementation and their good practice was disseminated. (Through the 'seed projects' schools were encouraged to work with consultants and universities from 2001 on projects relating to learning and teaching strategies, the key learning areas, moral and civic education and school-based curriculum development with the outcomes disseminated to other schools. Dissemination was also supported through the Regional Education Offices and District Teacher Network.) An evaluation of lessons learnt from Hong Kong's curriculum reform concluded that:

- **a.** teachers benefited from having time to experiment and clarify their understanding of the curriculum and check how it would work in their schools
- b. teachers and schools can learn lessons from previous experiences of curriculum reform
- c. with experience and professional development, even teachers resistant to change may amend their attitudes
- **d.** policy-makers need to explain how curriculum change is an evolution from existing practice rather than a completely fresh start, so that schools can relate it to previous reforms and their own experience
- e. curriculum reform needs to take account of schools' 'zones of proximal development' –
 i.e. their realistic scope to develop, either independently or with support.¹⁴⁴
Other high-performing systems provide similar types of mechanisms to build expertise and shared knowledge:¹⁴⁵

- a. New Zealand provides detailed Achievement Objectives for each Essential Learning Area and National Standards for literacy and numeracy, as well as other support including curriculum workshops and the School Support Services.
- b. The Netherlands provides guidance via the government-funded National Institute for Curriculum Development. The Institute develops intermediate targets and teaching guidelines for mathematics and Dutch. The National Teaching Materials Information Centre (part of the Institute) provides guidance so that schools can compare products.
- c. Queensland (Australia) provides the Queensland Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Framework, Essential Learnings, as well as guidelines covering whole-school intervention, the use of student data for teaching and learning, school curriculum planning at school/cross-phase/classroom levels, pedagogy, assessment, reporting, leadership and provision for students with disabilities.

9 How much autonomy do schools and teachers have in designing their curricula?

Autonomy in curriculum design is a feature of effective systems where teachers share a common understanding of the core elements of the curriculum and the associated standards developed over an extended period. The flexibility is limited by rules about instruction time, content coverage and standards of attainment expected of particular age groups. There are also accountability mechanisms such as inspection, school boards and publication of results.

Flexibilities often relate to:

- a. the use of non-core time or choice of elective subjects. In Poland, the headteacher has discretion to decide how to use the flexible time in the curriculum. In Hong Kong, schools have been able to decide which elective subjects to offer in senior secondary schools.
- b. design of programmes and selection of learning objectives for particular groups of students
- c. allocation of instruction time within longer time-frames
- d. the selection of textbooks.

In looking at curriculum design and implementation, New Zealand encouraged schools and teachers to build on their knowledge and experience, distinguishing between the

national curriculum framework – which is meant to give schools the flexibility to design a curriculum that is meaningful for students – and the school curriculum, which should allow teachers the professional scope to respond to the needs of their students.

10 What are the expectations of headteachers, parents and students?

Headteachers

Where more autonomy is delegated to schools, headteachers have a central role to play in the implementation of the curriculum and assessment, including:¹⁴⁶

- **a.** ensuring the curriculum is being delivered in accordance with government guidelines and the school's own programme
- b. monitoring student progress and identifying areas of weakness
- c. encouraging teachers to use data on the impact of their teaching methods on student performance
- **d.** promoting and supporting self-evaluation to share learning among teachers, to work together to create new ideas and programmes, to systematise and transmit knowledge to others, to encourage and promote innovation.

Parents

High-performing and improving systems ensure that parents value education, understand how the curriculum and assessment operate (particularly when changes are being implemented) and are actively involved in students' learning. In Hong Kong, teachers were advised to deal with parents' potential concerns about the reductions in the extent of homework and formal testing regimes. In Sub-Saharan states,¹⁴⁷ where parents may need their children to work to contribute to the family income, it is important that they do not decide school is a poor use of time. Their decisions would be affected by problems which they thought affected their children's opportunity to learn, such as inappropriate use of teachers' time (e.g. on administration), lack of discipline or lack of teaching materials.

Students

Moving to a system where students are expected to be active learners places expectations on them. In some systems, such as Poland,¹⁴⁸ their engagement and behaviour are graded alongside attainment. There is an understanding that teachers will ensure students know what is expected of them. In Hong Kong, the responsibilities of students are set out in parallel with those of teachers. For example, the English Language Curriculum and Assessment Guide (for Secondary 4–6) requires students to:

- a. set meaningful and realistic goals for their own learning in negotiation with the teacher
- b. engage confidently in learning activities with teachers supporting their learning
- c. reflect on their learning experiences with teachers providing feedback
- d. monitor and evaluate their progress against set goals.¹⁴⁹

11 Conclusions

Driven by the need to compete economically and to give their population wider and more equitable access to education, high-performing and improving education systems are engaged in a continuing process of reform of their curricula and assessment systems. They see more inclusive and longer access to education not just as good in itself, but also as a means of enabling students to make more effective contributions to the economy.

Although the detail may differ, the curricula share common features. They put considerable emphasis on literacy and numeracy. This may involve giving a major portion of learning time to literacy and numeracy in the first years of education, establishing standards (that is, expectations), carrying out monitoring and testing on entry to education and subsequently, and integrating literacy and numeracy into other subjects. Students are expected to study a broad range of subjects until the end of basic education (at around 14-16 years of age). These may start as learning areas (such as science) and become progressively more distinctive (separating into physics, biology and chemistry). Typically, the curricula will include mathematics, the national language, humanities, sciences, as well as one or more foreign languages and creative subjects. In high-performing systems, the national curricula are set out in frameworks which demonstrate continuity and progression, through increasingly difficult levels of subject knowledge and skills called variously 'standards', or 'learning objectives'. These standards describe what students will be able to do and understand at particular levels of performance. Standards may be related to age and benchmarked against international standards. This enables schools to construct their own programmes of study. Curricula and performance standards are generally, but not always, separate from syllabi, which prescribe the knowledge and skills to be assessed for specified qualifications.

The drive to widen access and contribute to the economy requires changes, not only to curriculum content, but also to the way the curriculum is taught and assessed. The introduction of cross-curricular themes and skills is a way of responding to wider issues, such as employability, citizenship and the environment. They have the potential to engage students by demonstrating the relevance of study. There is explicit attention to teaching students how to learn, not only to improve their short-term performance, but also to equip them for lifelong, independent learning. The changed curriculum and more diverse student body require skilled teachers, able to deploy a broad portfolio of teaching techniques.

Summative assessment, particularly examinations, continues to be important in marking end-of-stage achievement and giving access to further study and employment. The establishment of clear standards, linked to the curriculum, means that all – schools, students, parents and employers – know the levels of performance required. Diagnostic (formative) assessment has gained in significance as a tool to enable teachers (and students) to evaluate learning, adjusting teaching and learning plans in order to improve attainment.

Factors driving changes to the curriculum and assessment generally lead to changes in the length and structure of schooling, often extending instruction time and opening up opportunities to more of the student population. High-performing systems go further: aiming to ensure instruction time is used effectively and to expand learning beyond school time.

Lessons can be learnt from other systems, but policy-makers must recognise the importance of the differences deriving from culture and history. Not only teachers, but also parents and students may have pre-conceptions about appropriate curricula and assessment systems. The most effective systems also demonstrate that they have taken account of previous achievements in developing their reforms.

Systems also need to take account of their own circumstances, particularly the strength of the education infrastructure (such as availability of school places, funding and governance mechanisms) and the capabilities of their policy-makers, administrators and school workforce. In systems at the start of an improvement trajectory, there is a greater requirement for prescription and monitoring to ensure accurate and full curriculum delivery, as well as keeping track of the underlying factors affecting opportunity to learn. As schools and teachers develop greater competence, they can take on increased responsibility for constructing their curricula and assessing their students. Credibility is still dependent on external verification of standards.

Implementing change and building expertise is a long-term task. It requires an understanding of the complex nature of the development and implementation of the curriculum and assessment, detailed practical knowledge of the situation in schools and meticulous planning. Pilots can be used to test out approaches, evaluate capability and build understanding.

Even highly-effective education systems provide considerable – and detailed – support for schools and teachers, ranging from curriculum guidance to on-site advice. Where teachers are less skilled (and particularly where expansion of student numbers has put pressure on teacher recruitment), practical short-term support will include high-quality student textbooks. Medium- to longer-term support will include discussions of the changes, demonstrations and opportunities to experiment with new teaching styles.

Annex A (Chile)

Derived from P. Hepp and E. Laval (2003) *Improving literacy and numeracy in poor* schools: the main challenge in developing countries

The Ministry of Education in Chile identified features of effective schools in similar circumstances and provided strong pedagogical support in each subject. This was implemented through:

- · Early reading routines for all children in first grade
- · Support for students with learning difficulties
- Clear plans for subjects on yearly, monthly and weekly technical/delivery plans often laid out in detail for each class
- School admin monitors delivery of plans. Classroom observation to assist teachers pedagogically
- · Learning resources chosen carefully and integrated into lesson plans
- Efficient use of teaching time: lectures well prepared, resources in place, no interruptions; this means students are familiar with a routine and spend less time understanding goals, organising themselves
- Ensuring members of the school community including families have a clear understanding of expected learning outcomes and are well informed throughout the year about students' progress
- Establishing school-wide teaching routines to achieve basic skills in all students: 15 minutes' daily silent reading or mental arithmetic; a daily story hour for young pupils; a weekly hour at the library; a monthly theme round which students read, write, investigate, discuss etc.

International research showed similar features, with the addition of:

- More understanding by all teachers of expected learning results at each level in terms of the national curriculum
- · Better support with subject-related pedagogy
- Access to continuing training and participation in networks of teachers of their own subject.

Annex B (Hong Kong)

Derived from Learning to learn - the way forward in curriculum (2001)

Details of implementation of the curriculum reforms in Hong Kong, adopting a 'gradual approach' over ten years, showing the respective roles of government and schools:

Timescale	Implementation of reform
Short term	Government:
(2001/02 to 2005/06)	 Curriculum guides; teacher/principal development programmes; on-site school-based support. (Curriculum guides for KLAs and individual subjects to be issued from 2002.)
	 Partnership with schools/tertiary institutions to conduct 'seed' projects to generate and disseminate successful experiences.
	 Conducts review by end of short-term phase to take stock of progress/consolidate successful experiences.
	Schools:
	 Different schools have different starting points. Each school to review its own position and formulate its own curriculum development plan according to its readiness and circumstances.
	 Baseline: promote learning through four key tasks (moral and civic education; reading to learn; project learning and use of IT for interactive learning) and enhance learning/teaching in KLAs including strengthening critical thinking, creativity and comm. Skills in all KLAs.
	Schools that are ready: begin developing school-based curricula. Start on a small scale.
Medium term	Government:
(2006/07 to 2010/11)	 Consolidation and systematic dissemination of accumulated experience from short-term phase to help schools develop school-based curricula and improve learning/teaching strategies.
	Continues tasks from short term, improves plans and actions based on 2005/06 review.
	Schools:
	 Build on strengths and experiences from short-term phase. Based on central curriculum framework, begin next stage of schools' curriculum development plans – i.e. development of school-based curricula. Improve teaching/learning strategies further.
Long term	Government:
(Beyond 2011)	 Continues to update/improve curriculum framework according to the needs of society and students.
	 Partnership with schools/others to generate/disseminate successful experiences.
	Schools:
	Use effective teaching and learning strategies.
	 Develop school-based curricula that suit needs of students, based on central curriculum framework.

Annex C (Ghana)

Ghana: Curriculum and Education Structures: derived from the *Republic of Ghana's Report on the development of education in Ghana* (September 2008)

Changes were designed to enhance the interest and involvement of students to improve retention and completion rates. See table on following page.

Quality

- National Education Assessment (NEA) is an indicator of Ghana's education quality 'at the basic level':
 - The minimum level of competency is a score of 35%, proficiency 55%.
 - NEA provides performance data that can be compared across districts and regions.
- School Education Assessment (SEA) is intended as a school-level diagnostic tool: multiple choice and constructed response (i.e. written responses) examinations in mathematics and English. It is not intended for comparison across schools/regions, but to highlight areas of curriculum to be taught in depth; it is tied to specific test items, linked to core objectives in curriculum. It can be used to:
 - inform teachers and educators in schools where they need to make improvements in teaching
 - enable circuit supervisors to provide parents with information through School Performance Appraisal Meetings.¹⁵⁰

Curriculum		
Kindergarten: taught through activities v	with concrete activities. Main Ghanaian language of the area.	
	Six areas of learning: language and literature (language development); creative activities (drawing and writing); mathematics (number work); environmental studies; movement and drama (music and dance); physica development (PE).	
Primary: emphasis on literacy, numeracy learning skills).	and problem-solving (plus laying foundations for future, citizenship,	
Lower Primary	Ghanaian language; English language skills; basic mathematical skills; natural science. Music/dance, PE and creative arts (arts and crafts) taugh practically and demonstratively.	
	P1–P3: 156 teaching periods per class per year i.e. three per week allocated to learning reading.	
Upper Primary	Ghanaian language; English language skills; basic mathematical skills; integrated science. Music/dance, PE and creative arts (arts and crafts) taught practically and demonstratively.	
Junior High: Students discover skills etc vocational skills at senior high school.	, prepare for further academic work and acquisition of technical and	
	Ghanaian language; English language; mathematics; social studies; integrated science (including agricultural science), technical, vocational education and training; ICT; French; guidance and counselling.	
Senior High: Education provided for four apprenticeship schemes.	years at Senior High Schools, Technical/Vocational Institutes, and through	
Senior High Schools	Options: Technical/Vocational; Agriculture; General Programmes (arts or science).	
	Core: English language; mathematics; integrated science; social studies ICT (general tools, word processing, spreadsheet packages, internet).	
	tructured learning outside formal school system; learner-centred, skill-based ums. Can be used as catch-up so children can access mainstream education	
Environment: for children aged 8–17; classes generally no more than 25 ('small'); instructors from community and should be able to read and write in local language/mother tongue; flexible timetable; no more than 3 hours of classes per day; teacher-pupil relationship 'friendly and cordial'.	Curriculum: core areas numeracy, literacy and life skills (problem-solving); skill-oriented based on needs/values of community; use phonic/syllabic methods; use local language/mother tongue as medium of instruction; participatory/interactive teaching/learning methods; child-centred; continuous assessment of learning achievement. Literacy cycle of 9 months qualifies learner for admission to primary school. 1:1 ratio pupils/ textbooks. Free access to reading materials and books.	

Annex D (New Zealand)

New Zealand: Curriculum and Assessment

Introduction

The revised *New Zealand curriculum for English-medium teaching and learning in Years 1–13*, along with a parallel document for Maori-medium schools, was published in 2007, following a review in 2000/02, extensive development work, consultation and publication of a draft in 2006.

Purpose and content

It provided an overview of the philosophy and content of the revised curriculum, outlining roles and expectations. In particular, it:

- explained the purpose of the document i.e. to provide guidance to schools in reviewing their curricula
- set out the overall vision (i.e. aim) and principles of the revised framework
- identified the essential 'Learning Areas' i.e. English, the arts, health and PE, learning languages, mathematics and statistics, science, social sciences, technology. While these were presented as distinct, in planning their own curricula schools had the flexibility to link them. Some of the learning areas were designed to provide the basis for specialisation later on. Social sciences (levels 1–5) provide the foundation for specialisation at levels 6–8, where there are separate achievement objectives for social studies, economics, geography and history. (Schools teaching years 1–13 must use the Learning Area Statements and Achievement Objectives. However, those teaching years 11–13 have more flexibility and can also draw on Teaching and Learning Guidelines, as well as industry-approved and tertiary courses)
- explained that:
 - in addition to subject content, students needed to be taught the specialist vocabulary; how to read, understand, evaluate and communicate about texts, ideas and concepts in subject-appropriate ways
 - students new to English needed 'explicit and extensive teaching of English vocabulary, word forms, sentence and text structures and language uses'
- for each learning area, adopted a uniform format (of circa one page) to provide a 'Learning Area Statement' which explained the nature of the subject, the reason for studying it and how the Learning Area was structured. In the case of English, for instance, this comprised:

- What is English about?
 - Study, use, enjoyment of English language and literature orally, visually, and in writing
 - Understanding, using, creating... increasing complexity at heart of English teaching/learning.
- Why study English?
 - Access to understanding, knowledge and skills to participate in social, cultural, political and economic life of New Zealand and the wider world
 - Understanding how language works and enables students to make appropriate language choices; critically deconstruct texts to understand power of language to enrich and shape their own and others' lives
 - It contributes to development of sense of identity
 - Fundamental to access to curriculum.
- How is the learning area structured?
 - Two strands, each including oral, written and visual forms of language two modes:
 - Making meaning of ideas or info they receive (listening, reading, viewing)
 - Creating meaning for themselves or others (speaking, writing, presenting)
 - Achievement objectives in each of the two strands show progressions through which students move: develop knowledge, skills and understanding related to:
 - Text purposes and audiences
 - Ideas within language contexts
 - Language features that enhance texts
 - Structure and organisation of texts
- Achievement objectives are structured to make and create meaning at each level. As students progress, they engage with increasingly sophisticated tasks and texts at increasing depth.
- summarised evidence about effective pedagogy and explained the critical elements

- advised schools how to undertake curriculum review, building on existing good practice and meeting requirements relating to coverage of the essential learning areas, principles, values and key competencies. It was recommended that schools use the Learning Area Statements rather than Achievement Objectives to develop programmes of learning, selecting Achievement Objectives to match the programme subsequently
- explained that achievement objectives set out the learning processes, knowledge and skills
 relative to eight levels of learning. In planning, the priority for schools is to provide statements
 of learning expectations that teachers, students and parents can recognise and use; that
 schools can show what students are to learn and how it will be achieved building on existing
 learning; that coverage of fragmented Achievement Objectives is less important than each
 student's long-term success
- described the purpose of assessment (i.e. to improve teaching and learning) and the consequent responsibility of teachers to consider how to assess effectively; the uses of assessment information at student and school level; characteristics of effective assessment.
 'Analysis and interpretation often take place in the mind of the teacher, who then uses the insights gained to shape their actions as they continue to work with their students'
- set out the responsibilities of the various players, including the Boards of Trustees
- showed how the Education Act 1989 and subsequent amendments had been used to construct the curriculum and assessment arrangements and guide their implementation, as shown below.

The Education Act 1989 and amendments (i.e. continuity)				
National Education Guidelines				
National Education Goals i.e. desirable achievements and policy objectives	Foundation Curriculum Policy Statements i.e. statements of policy re teaching, learning, assessment.	National Curriculum Statements i.e. statements specifying knowledge, understanding, skills to be learned by students.	National Administration Guidelines i.e. directions to boards of trustees mainly re management, planning and reporting	
	The New Zealand Curricu Principles	Learning Area Statements		
	Values	Achievement Objectives		
	Key Competencies			

Achievement Objectives

Achievement Objectives are grouped by Essential Learning Areas, broken down, where appropriate (e.g. for the Arts into Dance, Drama, Music and Visual Arts). Language is disaggregated into Listening, Reading and Viewing and Speaking, Writing and Presenting. Mathematics and Statistics is disaggregated into Number and Algebra, Geometry & Measurement, and Statistics.

The structure of the Objectives differs according to the area, but in **each case they are described in terms of what the students can do and, therefore, the evidence teachers can look for**. Listening, Reading and Viewing is sub-divided into Processes and strategies, Purposes and audiences, Ideas, Language features and Structure. For each of these subdivisions, there is a brief description of what students will be able to do, followed by further detail in the form of indicators.

As with the National Standards (see below), the Objectives show how students' capabilities both broaden and deepen.

Listening, Reading and Viewing: Processes and Strategies			
Level 4: Students will: Integrate sources of information, processes, and strategies confidently to identify, form and express ideas.	Level 8: Students will: Integrate sources of information, processes, and strategies confidently, and precisely to identify, form, and express increasingly sophisticated ideas.		
Indicators:	Indicators:		
 Selects and reads texts for personal enjoyment and	 Selects and reads texts for personal enjoyment and		
fulfilment;	fulfilment;		
 Recognises and understands the connections between	 Recognises, understands and appreciates the		
oral, written and visual language;	connections between oral, written and visual language;		
 Integrates sources of information and prior knowledge	 Integrates sources of information and prior knowledge		
confidently to make sense of increasingly varied and	purposefully, confidently and precisely to make sense of		
complex texts;	increasingly varied and complex texts;		
 Selects and uses appropriate processing and	 Selects and uses appropriate processing and		
comprehension strategies with increasing understanding	comprehension strategies with confidence and		
and confidence;	discrimination;		
 Thinks critically about texts with increasing understanding	 Thinks critically about texts with understanding and		
and confidence;	confidence;		
 Monitors, self-evaluates, describes progress and	 Monitors, self-evaluates and describes progress,		
articulates learning with confidence.	articulating learning with confidence.		

National Standards

Notwithstanding New Zealand's achievements in international benchmarking tests, in response to concerns that almost 20% of young people were leaving school with inadequate literacy and numeracy skills,¹⁵² the National Standards were launched in 2009 and came into effect in 2010. They are designed to focus on the attainment of literacy and numeracy skills necessary to enable students to access the NZ National Curriculum. They set expectations for student attainment in reading, writing and mathematics in Years 1–8. Just as the NC document identified the subject-specific techniques required, the National Standards (NS) are designed to make explicit the literacy and numeracy demands of the entire curriculum so literacy and numeracy can be integrated with the teaching of subject-specific curriculum content. The Standards documents include considerable professional development for teachers.

For instance, the National Reading and Writing Standards include the following:

- Part 1 introduces the NS, relates them to existing effective literacy practice; Part 2 presents information that will be part of professional learning materials including the theoretical basis; unpacks the standards relating them to reading standards and showing how they relate to Ready to Read; Part 3 how standards and examples laid out then presents actual standards.
- Standards:
 - Diagrammatic explanation of how standards are put together, including analysis of verbs in the description e.g. in the Reading Standard: 'By the end of year 6, students will read...' ('Read' is explained including progression from decoding to thinking about meaning)
 - A section 'Key Characteristics of Texts that Students Read at this Level'. Characteristics include content, themes and ideas, structure, language, literary features. Notes texts become more complex from year to year
 - This is followed by an example illustrating the Reading Standards where there is an explanation of the learning context where student is meeting demands; extracts from text to show how it relates to curriculum task and reading demands; examples of skills, knowledge and strategies student uses. Includes pictures of actual student work
 - The Standards are written so that it is possible to see how students' skills both broaden and deepen, for example:
 - By the end of Year 4: locate and evaluate information and ideas/within texts
 - By the end of Years 5 and 6: locate, evaluate and integrate information and ideas/within and across a small range of texts

- By the end of Years 7 and 8: locate, evaluate and synthesise information and ideas/within and across a range of texts
- There are reading standards and writing standards.

Formative and summative assessment

In New Zealand, formative and summative assessments are particularly closely linked because of the pivotal role played in both by teachers. Both formative and summative assessments are based on teachers' professional judgements. Primacy is given to assessment for learning. Assessment is based on standards, rather than norms.¹⁵³ The key principles include:¹⁵⁴

- The student is the central focus.
- The curriculum underpins assessment.
- · Improvement relies on teachers' professional assessment capability.
- A range of evidence from multiple sources is more likely to give an accurate assessment.
- Effective assessment relies on good-quality interactions and relationships.

In primary schools, teachers make 'on balance' judgements using information from a range of sources. While there are no national tests as such, teachers' judgements are informed by guidance and exemplification relating to expected standards, such as the Achievement Objectives for each Learning Area and the National Standards for Literacy and Numeracy (and the Maori equivalent: Nga Whanaketanga rumaki Maori).

There is similar guidance available for secondary teachers, including exemplification.

Statutory assessment/standardised assessment is carried out:155

- To assess pupils within 5–6 weeks of first starting primary school. This is not compulsory, but has been carried out since 1997 using standardised tests within 5–6 weeks of entering school
- To monitor educational attainment nationally in order to inform policy: a 3% sample of children (3000 students/260 schools) in Year 4 (8–9 years) and Year 8 (12–13 years) are involved in the National Educational Monitoring Project each year. All curriculum areas are covered in a 4-year cycle. The sample is selected randomly. Two experienced teachers visit each school and, during a week, assess 12 students, each of whom takes part in four 1-hour assessments
- In the secondary phase, students are assessed for the National Certificate of Educational Achievement (NCEA). NCEA is a credit-based qualification recognised by tertiary institutions and employers. Students generally take Level 1 at the end of compulsory education (aged

15–16) and Level 3 at the end of post-compulsory secondary education (aged 17–18). The NCEA Standards are aligned to curriculum levels 6–8. Students' performance is evaluated against specific criteria. Each standard has a defined credit value. Consequently, formal assessments – both internal and external – enable the award of credits towards completion of NCEA Level 1–3 qualifications.¹⁵⁶

Ensuring the quality and credibility of assessments

The Education Review Office is responsible for evaluating the assessment capability of individual schools. The New Zealand Qualifications Authority sets standards for secondary school qualifications; manages the external assessment of secondary school students; moderates the quality of internal assessment; maintains students' electronic Record of Achievement; produces reports on each school's capability to assess against NCEA standards and monitors student results over time to inform improvements to policy and practice.

Annex E (Hong Kong)

Hong Kong: Curriculum and Assessment

Introduction

Learning to learn – the way forward in curriculum development, the report from Hong Kong's Curriculum Development Council, was published in 2001 following a review of the school curriculum that commenced in 1999. (The review had been followed by consultation on the draft curriculum framework in 2000.) The report outlined short-term (2001/02 to 2005/06), medium-term (2006/07 to 2010/11) and long-term plans (beyond 2011).

Purpose and content

It provided an overview of the philosophy and content of the revised curriculum, outlining roles and expectations, as well as the ways in which teachers would be supported in implementing the curriculum and associated assessment. In particular, it:

- stressed continuity, locating the curriculum changes firmly within the local context, including existing professional strengths and experiences derived from previous implementation of curriculum changes
- set out the guiding principles for successful implementation of the changes, focusing on student-centred learning; presenting curriculum development and change as a continuous process necessary to achieve improvement
- explained the strategies for development, with an emphasis on gradualism and capacitybuilding, including guidance on the tasks to be undertaken by schools, particularly in the short term and the respective roles of government and schools. The guidance on shortterm activities for schools was designed to free up time (e.g. by re-engineering work such as shifting administrative tasks away from teachers and trimming the curriculum); focus on ensuring that students had the basic competencies in Chinese, English and numeracy as enabling tools for learning; as well as giving priority to the development of critical thinking, creativity and communication skills to strengthen students' capacity to become independent learners
- introduced the 'Four Key Tasks' to support effective learning and teaching: moral and civic education; reading to learn (including strategies to learn more effectively); project learning (to develop generic skills and build knowledge) and using information technology (for interactive learning)
- set out the overall vision (i.e. aim) and principles of the revised framework, including the
 provision of essential learning experiences for whole-person development, helping students
 to learn how to learn and setting out a coherent and flexible framework capable of adaptation
 to the different needs of schools and in the light of change

- explained the interaction between the three components of the curriculum framework: Key Learning Areas (KLAs), Generic Skills,ⁱⁱ Values and Attitudesⁱⁱ with existing subjects grouped into eight KLAs comprising: Chinese Language Education; English Language Education; Maths Education; Personal, Social and Humanities Education; Science Education; Technology Education; Arts Education; and Physical Education. Schools were to be required to give students a broad and balanced curriculum in primary and secondary phases by making available subjects from within each KLA. However, these groupings were not meant to lead to out-of-field teaching: the Arts KLA, for instance, notes that there is no intention of asking arts teachers to teach subjects in which they are not 'specialised'
- outlined, for each of the KLAs and General Studies for primary schools, priorities for action, setting out the aim of the KLA ('Position'), objectives ('Direction') and CDC's expectations of students and teachers. For example, in the case of English Language Education:

Grade	Student	Teacher
P1-3	Develops phonics skills and vocabulary- building skills.	• Develops learners' language skills through activities such as shared reading of big books and story-telling.
P46	 Has more opportunities for reading, writing, speaking and listening to English; Develops dictionary and information skills; Communicates effectively by using suitable grammar structures. 	 Uses tasks and projects to facilitate the integrative use of language and development of dictionary and information skills; Makes greater use of open-ended questions to stimulate thinking; Facilitates grammar learning through a wide range of materials and activities.
S1-S3	 Develops creativity, critical thinking and cultural awareness; Broadens their dictionary skills, such as using phonetic symbols to pronounce unfamiliar words; Develops the positive language learning attitudes of cooperating, perseverance and not being afraid to make mistakes. 	 Makes greater use of imaginative/literary texts to develop learners' creativity, critical thinking and cultural awareness; Uses language tasks and projects to further enhance learners' dictionary skills and encourages collaboration and risk taking in language learning.
S4 and above	 Communicates effectively in a wide range of situations; Actively seeks opportunities for self- access and life-wide learning. 	 Engages learners in purposeful tasks and projects that allow them to learn and use English in natural and realistic settings; Negotiates the learning objectives, materials and activities with learners, and encourages them to seek and create opportunities to learn and use English; Enables learners to practise self/peer-assessment.

ⁱⁱ For example, collaboration, communication, creativity, critical thinking, information technology, numeracy, problem-solving, self-management and study skills.

¹¹ Values are principles underpinning conduct and decision-making; attitudes are the personal dispositions needed to perform a task well.

- clarified the areas where schools have discretion. While schools must adhere to CDC requirements in terms of learning time, learning targets and essential contents to ensure students receive their entitlement, they have flexibility about the way they organise curriculum contents, contexts and examples, learning and teaching strategies, pace of learning and teaching, homework, criteria and modes of assessment
- identified areas for action in the first phase of implementation designed to improve learning, teaching and assessment, noting they are based on 'authentic and practical experiences within the Hong Kong context, as well as by local and international research'. The actions ranged from ones associated with school management, through learning and teaching strategies and partnerships with external organisations including:
 - emphasising that school curriculum development was an opportunity to work out a holistic, coherent curriculum using time, different learning environments and resources from a range of sources as they saw fit and giving examples of how schools might approach the task
 - promoting collaborative lesson planning
 - encouraging schools to see lesson time, other school time and school holidays as opportunities to learn
 - explaining the principles underpinning effective learning and teaching strategies
 - distinguishing between assessment for learning and assessment for selection. Importance both of the process (e.g. independent learning, reflection) and products (e.g. knowledge, problem-solving capacities). Promoting use of most appropriate assessment tool. Undertaking to provide evidence-based quality criteria in line with curriculum framework to help teachers judge performance/progress of students in relation to learning targets; work with HKEA to develop combined curriculum and assessment guides so the scope/modes of assessment consistent with learning objectives and contents. Schools can use Student Assessment Programme of Basic Competency Assessment (English, Maths, Chinese) at P1 to S3. Tool to diagnose students' weaknesses and strengths as one basis for improving learning and teaching
 - recommending that schools cater for learner differences i.e. personalised learning
 - advising on strategies for smoothing transition between different phases of education (i.e. kindergarten, primary and secondary)
 - promoting collaboration and communication with parents about the purposes of assessment and the value of a diverse range of teaching and learning styles

 described the measures and resources available to support schools and teachers including curriculum and assessment guidance.

The Curriculum and Assessment, including the Guides

Introduction

A Basic Education Curriculum Guide was published, which expanded on the material in *Learning to Learn*, followed by guidance on the curriculum and assessment for KLAs. Guidance spanned Primary 1 – Secondary 3 and Secondary 4 – 6 (i.e. Years 1–9 or ages 6–14 and Years 10–12 or ages 15–17 respectively) reflecting the New Academic Structure leading to the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education. These formed part of a suite of publications comprising:

- 2001: Exemplars of curriculum development in schools, available alongside Learning to learn
- 2002: Basic Education Curriculum Guide Building on Strengths
- 2002: Key Learning Area Curriculum Guides: Chinese Language Education; English Language Education; Maths Education; Technical Education; Science Education; Personal, Social and Humanities Education; Arts Education; PE
- Subject Curriculum Guides
- Learning and Teaching Resources: Teaching Kits, videos, tapes, CD-ROMS, booklets, leaflets, reports.

Accessibility is enhanced by:

- a uniform set of messages throughout the guides (e.g. re actions at the three stages of implementation, approaches to pedagogy and assessment)
- relating the curriculum guides closely to the dimensions, learning targets and objectives set out in the CDC syllabi published in the 1990s, demonstrating continuity. The most marked difference is not in the content, but in the emphasis on changed approaches to teaching and assessment (i.e. task/experience-focused learning and formative assessment).

Taking the English Language curriculum as an example, the curriculum framework comprises:

- aims in this case relating to opportunities to learn about other cultures; for personal and intellectual development and enhance employment opportunities, since much material is in the English medium
- (subject-related) target i.e. for learners to develop an ever-improving capability to use English (e.g. to think and communicate). English Language is the core subject with English Literature as an extended and optional subject

• the curriculum organised into 'strands' (referred to in the syllabi as 'dimensions') with learning objectives as focuses:

English Language (Core subject KS1–4)			
Strands (dimensions): Language learning for the purpose of developing learners':	 Ability to establish and maintain relationships to exchange ideas and information; and to get things done (Interpersonal) Ability to provide or find out, interpret and use information; to explore, express and apply ideas; and to solve problems (Knowledge) Ability to respond and give expression to real and imaginative experience (as presented largely through literary or creative texts (Experience) 		
Learning objectives (cf syllabi) – focuses:	 Forms and functions (vocabulary, text-types, grammar items and structures, communicative functions) Language skills (listening, speaking, reading, writing) Language development strategies (e.g. thinking skills, information skills, skills of planning, managing and evaluating one's own learning) of 9 Generic Skills Attitudes (e.g. confidence in using English, sensitivity towards language use in the process of communication, respect for different cultures). 		

The learning targets consolidate previous learning, adding depth and breadth (see emboldened text):

English Language Learning Targets

English Language Learning Targets for KS1 (P1–3): By Strand/Dimension (Examples of related Bands of Learning in blue)

Interpersonal	Knowledge	Experience
 a. To establish and maintain relationships and routines in carrying out classroom activities. [B1. Learners are able to participate in classroom routines; to interact with teacher and classmates in supportive and structured classroom situations and activities; to exchange greetings using appropriate expressions; and to exchange simple information about themselves, their families and friends.] 	f. To recognise some obvious features of the English language in simple spoken and written texts such as the direction of writing in English, the characteristics of an alphabetic script and the sound patterns of English; and apply this awareness to one's initial learning and use of the language.	b. To respond to characters and events in simple imaginative and other narrative texts through oral, written and performative means such as: making predictions; making simple evaluative remarks; drawing pictures, making simple models or objects; creating captions; describing one's related experiences; participating in the telling of stories.

English Language Learning Targets

English Language Learning Targets for KS2 (P4–6): By Strand/Dimension

Interpersonal	Knowledge	Experience	
 a. To establish and maintain relationships and routines in school and other familiar situations. [B3: Learners are able to sustain relationships in the classroom and other familiar settings using simple means of expression; to exchange information on a wider range of familiar topics; to participate in making simple decisions to get things done, including through simulation and role-play activities; and to make and respond to requests in structured situations.] 	f. To understand some aspects of how the English language works, including how grammatical features contribute to meaning and how simple texts are organised; and apply this understanding to one's learning and use of the language.	b. To respond to characters and events in simple imaginative and other narrative texts through oral, written and performative means such as: making predictions; making inferences ; making evaluative comments ; describing one's feelings towards characters and events; relating to one's experiences; imagining oneself to be a character in the story and describing one's feelings and reactions; participating in dramatic activities .	

English Language Learning Targets

English Language Learning Targets for KS3 (S1-3): By Strand/Dimension Interpersonal Knowledge Experience a. To establish and maintain f. To understand some aspects of b. To respond to characters, events relationships and routines in school how the English language works and **issues** in imaginative and other and community situations. in relation to basic differences narrative texts through oral, written between formal and informal and performative means such as: [B6: Learners are able to establish and contexts and how different texts making predictions and inferences; maintain relationships in the school are organised and expressed; and making evaluative comments; setting and in familiar settings in the apply this understanding to one's explaining one's feelings towards community; to sustain exchanges learning and use of the language. characters and events; expressing with others, including the exchange one's reactions to issues; of points of view in a straightforward relating to one's experiences; manner, using appropriate degrees of putting oneself in the imaginary formality; to participate in planning, roles and situations in the organising and carrying out events story; participating in dramatic and activities including real situations; presentations. and to make and respond to more complex requests and instructions.]

English Language Learning Targets

English Language Learning Targets for KS4 (S4–5): By Strand/Dimension

Interpersonal	Knowledge	Experience
 a. To establish and maintain relationships and routines in school and community and work situations. [B8: Learners are able to establish and develop relationships in a variety of contexts; to converse on a range of topics fluently; to participate effectively in working with others; and to provide and obtain information and services in a range of real and simulated situations.] 	f. To understand how the English language works in a wide range of contexts and how more complex texts are organised and expressed; and apply this understanding to one's learning and use of the language.	b. To respond to characters, events, issues and themes in imaginative and other narrative texts through oral, written and performative means such as: making predictions and inferences; analysing the actions and motivations of characters and the significance of events; relating to one's experiences; putting oneself in the imaginary roles and situations in the story; participating in dramatic presentations and reflecting on the way in which authors use language to create effects.

- In addition to learning targets for English Language and Literature, there are similar key stage-related descriptions (and subject-specific exemplars) of expected achievements for:
 - Generic skills (i.e. Communication Skills; Creativity (not by key stage); Critical Thinking; Information Technology; Numeracy; Problem-solving; Self-management (not by KS); Study skills);
 - Values and attitudes with exemplars of expected implementation by KS, e.g. KS4 includes

'2. Motivate themselves by developing endurance and tolerance in the face of hardships (such as when carrying out challenging language learning tasks or projects)'.

Syllabi

 While the syllabi set out the learning objectives, they also contain material that offers much wider guidance and is recognisably related to the subsequent curriculum changes of 2002 onwards.

Learning Objectives

 The learning objectives remain those in the 1999 syllabus (in the case of English Language for Secondary 1–5). They describe explicitly what students learn and can do to achieve the learning targets of the particular key stage. They are not mapped onto the dimensions, but organised into:

- forms and functions: text-types, vocabulary, communicative functions, language items
- skills and strategies: listening, speaking, reading, writing, language development strategies.
- As with learning targets, they are aggregated, so that knowledge is built up over the course of study. For example:

	KS1	KS2	КS3	KS4
Text types	E.g. captions, messages, jokes, letters, short stories.	E.g. add poems, TV schedules, plays or dramatic episodes, poems.	E.g. add brochures, reports, formal letters	E.g. add editorials, feature articles
Language items	E.g. use the present continuous tense to describe an action taking place at the time of speaking.	E.g. use the present perfect tense to relate past events to the present.	E.g. use a variety of tenses, passive voice, reported speech, adverbs etc, to refer to events in the past, present and future and to the frequency with which things occur.	
Reading	Establish concepts about print. Construct meaning from text, e.g. work out the meaning of unknown words by recognising the base word within other words. Locate information and ideas, e.g. identify main ideas from a text with teacher support. Locate information and ideas, e.g. identify details that support the main idea.	Construct meaning from text, e.g. use visual clues, context and knowledge of the world to work out the meaning of an unknown word and a complete expression.	Understand, interpret and analyse different written texts e.g. differentiate fact from opinion.	 Understand, interpret and analyse different written texts, e.g. 1. follow and evaluate the development of a point of view or argument; 2. evaluate critically views and attitudes.

Bands of Performance

- The Bands of Performance relate closely to the later performance targets in the revised curriculum and remain valid albeit they are 'not... obligatory'.
- In the case of English, they comprise two types:
 - Descriptions of eight levels of performance corresponding to the Dimensions. (Examples of the Bands have been inserted in blue alongside the Dimensions above);

- More detailed descriptions of expected performance in relation to listening, speaking, reading and writing. Thus, progression in reading includes:
 - · B1: Understanding short written directions and instructions
 - · B4: Interpreting and using information presented in a range of text-types
 - B8: Acquiring, relating, synthesising and evaluating ideas and information.
- By reading the Bands of Performance across levels, it is possible to see how expected progression is defined and by looking across the Dimensions gives an overview of the subject.
- The Bands of Performance are presented as potentially subject to change. A 'hypothetical relationship' is shown between Bands and Key Stages:
 - KS1: 1, 2
 - KS2: 2-4
 - KS3: 3-6
 - KS4: 4–8.

The New Senior Secondary Curriculum (NSSC)¹⁵⁷

The NSSC commenced in Secondary 4 in September 2009. Its aims were:

- To enable all students to receive six years of secondary education making access to secondary education a broad-based entitlement – and laying the foundations for lifelong learning through the acquisition of broadly-based knowledge and capabilities
- To meet the changing economic needs of Hong Kong.

Its main features are:

- Irrespective of the pathways followed, all students take four core subjects: Chinese language; English language; Mathematics and Liberal studies.
- In addition, students take two or three elective subjects from three categories (and may take up to a maximum of eight subjects):
 - A: NSS elective subjects (e.g. Biology; Accounting and Financial Studies; Chinese History; ICT; Music; Tourism and Hospitality Studies)

- B: Applied learning subjects (e.g. Design Studies; Business studies; Sports; Civil and Mechanical Engineering; Services Engineering)
- Other language subjects (French, German, Hindi, Japanese, Spanish, Urdu).
- They are also expected to undertake other learning experiences (e.g. moral and civic education, aesthetic education, career-related experiences, physical education).
- The introduction of school-based assessment by subject teachers with marks awarded counting towards the results of public examinations (SBA moderated to ensure consistency of standards).
- Grading and reporting in accordance with standards:
 - Category A subjects are reported against five levels (with 5 the highest, and the option of attaining 5** and 5*) plus 'unclassified'
 - Category B subjects are reported against 'Attained' and 'Attained with Distinction'
 - Category C subjects, which are examined through Cambridge International Examinations AS level papers, are marked and graded by Cambridge International Examinations against grades A–E, with grade E lowest, plus 'ungraded'.
- To maintain comparability with HKALE, standards for Levels 4 and 5 of HKDSE were to equate to grades A–D of HKALE.¹⁵⁸ Since the intention is that the standards will remain constant – and will be monitored – percentages of students achieving particular levels in HKDSE may vary year on year.

Formative and summative assessment

The Syllabi (e.g. the English Syllabus of 1999) discussed assessment of learners in terms of performance against criteria rather than in comparison with their peers (norm referencing). While there was considerable emphasis on summative assessment (e.g. for grading learners' performance, determining which class to place students in and selection of students for further studies), assessment was also presented as formative and diagnostic, both in terms of students' strengths and weaknesses and also as a mechanism to evaluate teaching effectiveness.

Principles underpinning formative assessment included:

- task-based learning designed to demonstrate learner capability
- use of a range of tasks to cover the spectrum of learning targets
- use of multiple assessment criteria (i.e. Bands of Performance) as a mechanism for giving structured feedback to students

 discouraging teachers from using formal tests and assessment too frequently (e.g. once a week or month) and suggesting other assessment mechanisms such as observation, portfolios, discussions with learners and encouraging learners to assess their own learning.

The expansion of expectations about continuing education led to a change in formal, terminal examination arrangements. The primary Academic Aptitude Test was discontinued. Previously performance in the Hong Kong Certificate of Education Examination at the end of Secondary 5 determined whether students could progress to Secondary 6 and 7 to take the matriculation course leading to the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examinations, which determined entrance to university and other tertiary courses. This was superseded by the introduction of the Hong Kong Certificate of Secondary Education (see above).

Following introduction of the New Senior Secondary Curriculum, which began with the Form 4 students in the 2009/10 academic year, HKCEE and HKALE are being phased out (HKCEE final examinations in May 2010 and HKALE final examinations in May 2012). Instead, students will take the Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education at the end of Year 6, which will be the final year in school.

References

- ¹ Le Métais, J. (2003) 'International trends in curriculum frameworks', *The educational forum*, 67, 3, 235-247.
- ² Le Métais, *ibid*.
- ³ Cheng, K.M. and Yip, H.K. (2006) Facing the knowledge society: reforming secondary education in Hong Kong and Shanghai. Washington, DC: World Bank [online]. Available: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EDUCATION/Resources/278200-1099079877269/547664-1099079967208/Facing_Knowledge_Society_Oct06.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ⁴ Curriculum Development Council (2001) *Learning to learn: the way forward in curriculum* [online]. Available: http://www.edb.gov.hk/index.aspx?langno=1&nodelD=2877 [5 Dec 2011].
- ⁵ UNESCO International Bureau of Education (2006) World data on education, 6th edition, 2006/07, New Zealand. Geneva: UNESCO International Bureau of Education [online]. Available: http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/archive/Countries/WDE/2006/ ASIA_and_the_PACIFIC/New_Zealand/New_Zealand.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ⁶ Eurydice (2009) Structures of education and training systems in Europe: Poland 2009/10 edition [online]. Available: http://www.eurydice.org.pl/sites/eurydice.org.pl/files/the_ system_2010.pdf [14 August 2013].
- ⁷ Cox, C. (2006) Policy formation and implementation in secondary education reform: the case of Chile at the turn of the century (Education Working Paper Series Number 3). Washington, DC: World Bank [online]. Available: http://rmportal.net/library/content/Secondary_Education/ policy_secondaryed_reform_chile_3.pdf/view [5 December 2011].
- ⁸ Ghana Education Service (2008) Report on the development of education in Ghana. Geneva: UNESCO International Bureau of Education [online]. Available: http://www.ibe.unesco.org/ National_Reports/ICE_2008/ghana_NR08.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ⁹ Ghana Education Service, *ibid*.
- ¹⁰ Chan, C.K.K. (2010) 'A learning journey for all to succeed.' PowerPoint presentation, 26 March [online]. Available: http://www.britishcouncil.org/going_global_4_-_hong_kong_-_dr_ chan_-_pp.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ¹¹ Mourshed, M., Chijioke, C. and Barber, M. (2010) How the world's most improved school systems keep getting better. New York: McKinsey & Company [online]. Available: http://www. mckinsey.com/clientservice/social_sector/our_practices/education/knowledge_highlights/~/ media/Reports/SSO/Education_Intro_Standalone_Nov%2026.ashx [5 December 2011].
- ¹² World Bank (2008) Curricula, examinations, and assessment in secondary education in sub-Saharan Africa (World Bank Working Paper No. 128). Washington, DC: World Bank [online]. Available: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTAFRREGTOPSEIA/Resources/ No.5Curricula.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ¹³ World Bank Independent Evaluation Group (2007) Best practice: higher enrolments and better learning outcomes in Ghana [online]. Available: http://www.worldbank.org/ieg/education/ ghana.html [5 December 2011].

- ¹⁴ World Bank, op.cit.
- ¹⁵ World Bank Independent Evaluation Group, *op.cit*.
- ¹⁶ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹⁷ Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2010a) *PISA 2009 results*. Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/document/61/0,3746, en_32252351_32235731_46567613_1_1_1_00.html [30 August 2013].
- ¹⁸ Hepp, P. and Laval, E. (2003) *Improving literacy and numeracy in poor schools: the main challenge in developing countries* [online]. Available: http://crpit.com/confpapers/ CRPITV34Hepp.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ¹⁹ UNESCO International Bureau of Education, op. cit.
- ²⁰ Bialecki, I., Johnson, S. and Thorpe, G. (2002) 'Preparing for national monitoring in Poland', *Assessment in education*, 9, 2, 221–236.
- ²¹ Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2010b) *PISA 2009 results: Vol. II, Overcoming social background: equity in learning opportunities and outcomes.* Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/document/61/0,3746,en_32252351_32235731_ 46567613_1_1_1_1_00.html [30 August 2013].
- ²² Higgins, S., Kokotsaki, D. and Coe, R. (2011) *Toolkit of strategies to improve learning.* London: The Sutton Trust [online]. Available: http://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/ toolkit/about-the-toolkit [14 August 2013].
- ²³ World Bank, op. cit.
- ²⁴ OECD (2010a), op. cit.
- ²⁵ World Bank, op. cit.
- ²⁶ Crossley, M. and Murby, M. (1994) 'Textbook provision and the quality of the school curriculum in developing countries: issues and policy options', *Comparative education*, 30, 2, 99–114. Cited in: Gillies, J. and Quijada, J.J. (2008) *Opportunity to learn: a high impact strategy for improving educational outcomes in developing countries* (Working Paper). Washington, DC: EQUIP2 [online]. Available: http://www.equip123.net/docs/e2-OTL_WP.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ²⁷ Mourshed et al., op. cit.
- ²⁸ UNESCO International Bureau of Education, op. cit.
- ²⁹ Bialecki et al., op. cit.
- ³⁰ World Bank, op. cit.
- ³¹ Gillies, J. and Quijada, J.J. (2008) *Opportunity to learn: a high impact strategy for improving educational outcomes in developing countries* (Working Paper). Washington, DC: EQUIP2 [online]. Available: http://www.equip123.net/docs/e2-OTL_WP.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ³² World Bank, op. cit.
- ³³ Le Métais, op. cit.
- ³⁴ Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.

³⁵ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007) *The New Zealand curriculum for English-medium teaching and learning in Years 1–13*. Wellington: Learning Media Limited [online]. Available: http://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/Media/Files/N-files/The-New-Zealand-Curriculum-for-English-medium-teaching-and-learning-in-years-1-13 [5 December 2011].

- ³⁷ Tomiak, J.J. (2000) 'Polish education facing the twenty-first century: dilemmas and difficulties', *Comparative education*, 36, 2, 177–186.
- ³⁸ Cox, op. cit.
- ³⁹ Cox, op. cit.
- ⁴⁰ INCA: International Review of Curriculum and Assessment Frameworks Internet Archive (2009) *Curriculum documents and guidance: results of desk research* [online]. Available: http://www.inca.org.uk/Curriculum_documents_and_guidance.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ⁴¹ Cox, *op. cit*.
- ⁴² New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.
- ⁴³ INCA: International Review of Curriculum and Assessment Frameworks (2011) New Zealand curricula (age 3-19) [online]. Available: http://www.inca.org.uk/new-zealand-curriculamainstream.html [5 December 2011].
- ⁴⁴ INCA: International Review of Curriculum and Assessment Frameworks (2008): New Zealand assessment arrangements. http://www.inca.org.uk/new-zealand-assessment-mainstream.html [5 December 2011].
- ⁴⁵ Tong, S.Y.A. (2010) 'Lessons learned? School leadership and curriculum reform in Hong Kong', *Asia Pacific journal of education*, 30, 1, 231–242.
- ⁴⁶ Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.
- ⁴⁷ Tong, *op. cit*.
- ⁴⁸ Cox, *op. cit*.
- ⁴⁹ Ghana Education Service, op. cit.
- ⁵⁰ Gillies and Quijada, op. cit.
- ⁵¹ Gillies and Quijada, op. cit.
- ⁵² Gillies and Quijada, op. cit.
- ⁵³ UNESCO International Bureau of Education, op. cit.
- ⁵⁴ Cox, *op. cit*.
- ⁵⁵ Gillies and Quijada, op. cit.
- ⁵⁶ Gillies and Quijada, op. cit.
- ⁵⁷ Republic of Ghana Ministry of Education and Sports (2006) Report on 2005 administration of national education assessment Primary 3 and Primary 6: English and mathematics (Basic Education Comprehensive Assessment System) [online]. Available: http://www.equip123.net/ docs/e2-NEA.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ⁵⁸ Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.

³⁶ Cox, op. cit.

- ⁵⁹ Tam, V.C.W. (2009) 'Homework involvement among Hong Kong primary school students', *Asia Pacific journal of education*, 29, 2, 213–227.
- ⁶⁰ Curriculum Development Council (2002a) Basic education curriculum guide: building on strengths (Primary 1 – Secondary 3). Wan Chai: Curriculum Development Council [online]. Available: http://www.edb.gov.hk/en/curriculum-development/doc-reports/guide-basic-educurriculum/index.html [14 August 2013].
- ⁶¹ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), *ibid*.
- ⁶² Curriculum Development Council (2002b) English language education: key learning area (Primary 1 – Secondary 3). Wan Chai: Curriculum Development Council [online]. Available: http://ebook.lib.hku.hk/HKG/B35848583.pdf [14 August 213].
- 63 Gillies and Quijada, op. cit.
- ⁶⁴ Tettey-Enyo, A. (2010) Speech at 'Meet the Press Session', Ministry of Information, Accra, 6 January [online].
- 65 World Bank, op. cit.
- ⁶⁶ Curriculum Development Council (2002b), op. cit.
- 67 OECD (2010a), op. cit.
- 68 OECD (2010a), op. cit.
- 69 New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.
- ⁷⁰ INCA: International Review of Curriculum and Assessment Frameworks (2008) New Zealand assessment arrangements [online]. Available: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/what-we-do/informationand-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ⁷¹ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010) *Ministry of Education position paper: assessment* [online]. Available: http://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/upload/New%20Zealand/New_Zealand_ AssessmentPositionPaperSep2010.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ⁷² New Zealand Ministry of Education (2009) National standards: maths, reading and writing: years 1–8 [online]. Available: http://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/National-Standards [5 December 2011].
- ⁷³ Hepp and Laval, op. cit.
- ⁷⁴ Eurydice, op. cit.
- ⁷⁵ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.
- ⁷⁶ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- 77 Chan, op. cit.
- ⁷⁸ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.
- ⁷⁹ Cox, op. cit.; National Curriculum is available on the Curriculum and Evaluation Unit's pages on the website of the Chile Ministry of Education.
- ⁸⁰ INCA: International Review of Curriculum and Assessment Frameworks [online]. Available: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ⁸¹ Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.

⁸² Tong, op. cit.

- ⁸³ INCA: International Review of Curriculum and Assessment Frameworks: http://www.nfer. ac.uk/what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ⁸⁴ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.; INCA New Zealand: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/ what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ⁸⁵ Eurydice (2009) op. cit.
- ⁸⁶ Ghana Education Service, op. cit.; World Bank, op. cit.
- 87 Le Métais, op. cit.
- 88 Le Métais, op. cit.
- ⁸⁹ Eurydice, op. cit.
- ⁹⁰ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.
- ⁹¹ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- 92 Chan, op. cit.
- 93 Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.
- ⁹⁴ Cox, op. cit.
- ⁹⁵ Ghana Education Service, op. cit.
- ⁹⁶ Brzdak, J., Donska-Olszko, M. and Jaworski, P. (2006) Assessment project country report: Poland [online]. Available: http://www.european-agency.org/agency-projects/assessment-ininclusive-settings/assessment-in-inclusive-education-files/poland-indexed-report.doc/view [5 December 2011].
- 97 Le Métais, op. cit.
- ⁹⁸ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2013) *The New Zealand curriculum and the standards review how they fit together* [online]. Available: http://www.edgazette.govt.nz/articles/Article.aspx?Articleld=7777 [30 August 2013].
- ⁹⁹ Republic of Ghana Ministry of Education and Sports, op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁰ Brzdak et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁰¹ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010), op. cit.
- ¹⁰² Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- ¹⁰³ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁴ Taut, S., Cortes, F., Sebastian, C. and Preiss, D. (2009) 'Evaluating school and parent reports of the national student achievement testing system (SIMCE) in Chile: access, comprehension and use', *Evaluation and program planning*, 32, 2, 129–137.
- ¹⁰⁵ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010), op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁶ INCA New Zealand: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ¹⁰⁷ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁸ Republic of Ghana Ministry of Education and Sports, *op. cit*.

- ¹⁰⁹ Bialecki et al., op. cit.
- ¹¹⁰ Eurydice, op. cit.
- ¹¹¹ Bialecki et al., op. cit.
- ¹¹² Republic of Ghana Ministry of Education and Sports, op. cit.
- ¹¹³ Carless, D. (2006) 'Developing synergies between formative and summative assessment.' Paper presented at the British Educational Research Association Annual Conference, University of Warwick, 6–9 September [online]. Available: http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/ documents/159474.htm [5 December 2011].
- ¹¹⁴ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010), op. cit.
- ¹¹⁵ Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2005) *Formative* assessment: improving learning in secondary classrooms (Policy briefing) [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/19/31/35661078.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ¹¹⁶ Brown, G.T.L., Kennedy, K.J., Fok, P.K., Chan, J.K.S. and Yu, W.M. (2009) 'Assessment for student improvement: understanding Hong Kong teachers' conceptions and practices of assessment', Assessment in education, 16, 3, 347–363.
- ¹¹⁷ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- ¹¹⁸ Brzdak et al., op. cit.
- ¹¹⁹ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- ¹²⁰ Brown et al., op. cit.
- ¹²¹ Eurydice, op. cit.
- ¹²² Brzdak et al., op. cit.
- ¹²³ Brzdak et al., op. cit.
- ¹²⁴ Cox, *op. cit*.
- ¹²⁵ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- ¹²⁶ OECD (2010a), op. cit.
- ¹²⁷ Le Métais, op. cit.
- ¹²⁸ UNESCO International Bureau of Education, op. cit.
- ¹²⁹ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007), op. cit.
- ¹³⁰ Brzdak et al., op. cit.
- ¹³¹ Republic of Ghana Ministry of Education and Sports, *op. cit*.
- ¹³² Mourshed et al., op. cit.
- ¹³³ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹³⁴ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹³⁵ OECD (2006) *Teachers matter: attracting, developing and retaining effective teachers*. Paris: OECD.
- ¹³⁶ World Bank, op. cit.

¹³⁷ Cox, op. cit.

¹³⁸ Eurydice, op. cit.

- ¹³⁹ Curriculum Development Council (2002a), op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁰ Mourshed et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁴¹ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹⁴² Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.
- ¹⁴³ Curriculum Development Council (2001), op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁴ Tong, op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁵ INCA (2009) http://www.nfer.ac.uk/what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ¹⁴⁶ OECD (2005), op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁷ World Bank, op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁸ Brzdak et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁹ Curriculum Development Council (2007) English language: curriculum and assessment guide (Secondary 4–6). Wan Chai: Curriculum Development Council [online]. Available: http://334. edb.hkedcity.net/doc/eng/eng_lang_final.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ¹⁵⁰ Ghana Education Service, op. cit.
- ¹⁵¹ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2013), op. cit.
- ¹⁵² Tolley, A. (2009) 'National standards: information for schools.' Letter from the Minister, 16 October [online]. Available: http://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/National-Standards/Key-information/ Information-for-schools/National-Standards-launch-pack/Letter-from-the-Minister [5 December 2011].
- ¹⁵³ UNESCO International Bureau of Education, op. cit.
- ¹⁵⁴ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010), op. cit.
- ¹⁵⁵ INCA: New Zealand: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm [14 August 2013].
- ¹⁵⁶ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010), op. cit.
- ¹⁵⁷ Chan, op. cit.; Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority (2009) Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education Examination [online]. Available: http://www.hkeaa.edu.hk/ DocLibrary/Media/Leaflets/HKDSE_pamphlet_Eng_1410.pdf [5 December 2011].
- ¹⁵⁸ Curriculum Development Council (2007), op. cit.

About CfBT Education Trust

CfBT Education Trust is one of the world's leading not-for-profit education companies, providing a range of education services in the UK and internationally. Established over 40 years ago, CfBT has an annual turnover of over £100 million and over 2,000 staff worldwide, all working on projects relating to educational quality.

Our clients include major international organisations such as the World Bank and the European Union, together with government ministries worldwide. Currently we are managing important projects in the UK, Dubai, Abu Dhabi, Oman, Brunei, Cambodia, Laos, Australia, Jamaica and Kenya. We have a particular expertise in the evaluation of school quality. In England we manage school inspections for the whole of the northern region of the country on behalf of the national inspection agency, Ofsted. Our work for clients also involves teacher and leadership training, curriculum design, careers guidance for young people and support for school improvement.

As a not-for-profit company CfBT uses its trading surplus to fund a programme of public research.

Visit www.cfbt.com for more information.

High-performing and improving education systems

In line with its commitment to providing evidence-based and practical support for international education system reforms, in February 2009 CfBT Education Trust commissioned research identifying the critical components of high-performing and improving education systems. The research focuses on: teachers; the curriculum and assessment; quality assurance and accountability; school leadership; and school systems, structures and funding. It examines policy documents, material relating to implementation and academic literature. The challenge was to bring together robust, independently verified evidence and practical knowledge of what is done in effective education systems in an authoritative yet accessible review format.

Systems were selected early in 2010. The process took account of PISA 2000 and 2006 reading scores; PISA 2003 and 2006 mathematics scores; and TIMSS 1995, 1999, 2003 and 2007 (where available) results for mathematics and science for students aged 9-10 and 13-14.



CfBT Education Trust 60 Queens Road Reading Berkshire RG1 4BS

+44 (0)118 902 1000

www.cfbt.com